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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW REPORT 
 
I am delighted to present the annual report of At-Tahur limited for Financial Year 2017-2018. At-
Tahur Limited (PSX: PREMA) is committed to maintaining high standards of good corporate 
governance without any concession. This has been another year of stellar growth for the company, 
where we have seen a substantial  growth.  This growth has been contributed by the immense 
hard work and dedication of our employees, and stake holders.  
 
I’m also pleased to announce, on behalf of the directors, that the infrastructure work and capacity 
enhancement has been completed to a large extent. With adequate technological resources and 
expertise at our disposal, we intend to explore new markets, and product lines and furthermore, 
expand into new ventures in the dynamic dairy industry of Pakistan. Prema’s new product lines, 
such as portion size packaging and avored milk category, have seen a great response by the 
consumers and we will continue to serve our consumers in the best manner possible. 
 
The Company remains committed to delivering the best nutrition and positively impact the lives 
of our consumers. In this regard, the Company continues to explore avenues to address this, as we 
strongly believe that there is huge potential for expansion to fulll the nutritional need of growing 
population base. The testimony of company’s focus on quality is best described by an independent 
market audit, conducted under the orders and aegis of Honorable Supreme Court of Pakistan. The 
nding of the commission was; 

 
“Except Prema Milk, all other samples are found to be unfit for human consumption” - Supreme 
Court of Pakistan proceeding – 2016. 
 
Reference “Civil Petition No. 2374-L/2016 and C.M.A.NO.2702- L/2016”. 
 
The board members diligently performed their duties and thoroughly reviewed, discussed and 
approved business strategies, corporate objectives, plans, nancial statements and other reports. 
All the signicant issues throughout the year were presented before the Board regularly by the 
management and external auditors. The non- executive and independent directors were equally 
involved in important Board decisions. The Board has exercised its powers in accordance with the 
laws and regulations applicable on the company. All the directors on the Board are fully conversant 
with their duties and responsibilities as directors of the company. During the year under review 
the overall performance of the Board on basis of approved criteria was satisfactory. 
 
In the end I would like to acknowledge the colossal support and commitment of each member of 
the management team and the employees of the Company, who ensured the Company’s continued 
progress. We also take this opportunity to thank our valued customers and consumers who have 
trust in our products and continue to provide sustained support in ensuring the progress of the 
Company. 
 
I’m confident that our commitment will go even further in the upcoming years and that we will 
continue to serve our stakeholders, through sheer dedication and hard work.  
 
 
Ijaz Nisar 
Chairman 
At-Tahur Limited 
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THE DIRECTORS REPORT 
The Directors of At -Tahur Limited takes pleasure in presenting Directors’ Report, together with the Audited 
Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2018: 
 

Listing of At-Tahur limited   
 
At-Tahur Limited got listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited w. e.f. 30 July 2018. Hence, this annual report 
of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2018 does not contain Statement of Compliance With Listed 
Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2017 and Auditor’s Review Report On The 
Statement Of Compliance Contained In Listed Companies (Code Of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 
2017. As the listing of the Company happened subsequent to the year end, the Directors’ Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2018, has been drafted based on legal status of the Company as at 30 June 2018.      
    

Summary of nancial performance  

 
PKR Million 2017-18 2016-17 Change (YOY) 

 

Revenue 1204.45 963.90 25% 

Gross Prot margin 550.42 390.53 41% 

Operating Prot margin 169.76 94.24 80% 

Net Prot before tax 160.55 88.76 81% 

Net Prot after tax 177.68 111.43 59% 

Earnings per share (Basic) 1.62  1.01  60%  
 

 
Principal activities of the company 
 
At-Tahur Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in 
Pakistan as a private limited company in March 2007 and 
subsequently converted to public limited Company with 
effect from September 2015. The shares of the Company 
are quoted on the Pakistan Stock Exchange on 30 July 
2018. The Company’s principal activity is to run dairy 
farm for the production and processing of milk and dairy 
products. 

Financial performance overview 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2018, the sales volume 
increased to 9,494,280 liters as against 7,274,755 liters 
sold last year. The company has posted new records on 
the nancial front with net sales revenue of Rs. 1,204.45 
million, up by 25% as compared to Rs. 963.90 million 
last year. Prot after tax grew by 59% to 177.68 million 
from Rs. 111.43 million posted last year. The overall 
increase in the revenue and net prots is mainly 
attributable to the improved turnover on account of 
launch of new products, change in sales mix and increase 
in foreign exchange rate against Pakistan rupee. The 
earnings per share of your Company for the year ended 
June 30, 2018 was PKR 1.62 compared to PKR 1.01 
reported last year. 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

NPAT 1.34 83.48 27.71 111.43 177.68
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Contribution to National Exchequer 
 
During the year, the Company contributed a sum of Rs. 79.36 million, in terms of Income taxes, excise 
duty, sales tax and other government levies, to the national exchequer, which amounts to about 7% of the 
total revenue of the Company.  
 

INDUSTRY REVIEW & ENVIRONMENT  

 
Business Environment 
 
Pakistan’s macroeconomic fundamentals are a reason to worry for our national industry, especially on 
account of the current account decit standing at $30 billion. Pakistan has achieved marginally stronger 
export growth, but rising oil prices and weaker capital inows, together with a signicant rise in imports, 
are weighing on the balance of payments. The recovery in agriculture and a stronger manufacturing output 
are both positive aspects of the country’s growing economy. 
 
We expect economic growth in the next scal year to remain moderate due to large scal and current 
account decits, rising external debt and tighter nancial conditions. The Pak Rupee is expected to remain 
under pressure, adding to ination concerns and weaker consumer spending thus impacting dairy industry 
growth. 
 
The new government 100 days plan includes revamping of livestock sector to become self-sufcient in 
milk and milk- based products, the Government is also planning to expand meat production for the export 
market that would eventually benet Dairy Sector.  
 

Industry Review 
 
During 2017-18, livestock contributed 58.9 percent to the agriculture value added and 11.1 percent to the 
overall GDP compared to 58.9 percent and 11.3 percent during the corresponding period last year, 
respectively. Gross value addition of livestock at constant cost factor of 2005-06 has increased from Rs. 
1,327 billion (2016-17) to Rs. 1,377 billion (2017-18), showing an increase of 3.8 percent over the same 
period last year. The table presented below gives the detail growth rates over the years: 
 
Source: Pakistan Bureau of Statistics 

Table 1.1: Growth Rates (%) 

Sector 2017-18 P 2016-17 R 2015-16 F 2014-15 2013-14 2012-13 
       

Agriculture 3.81 2.07 0.15 2.13 2.50 2.68 

Livestock 3.76 2.99 3.36 3.99 2.48 3.45 
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The livestock population for the last three years is given in Table 1.2. 
 
Source: Ministry of National Food Security & Research 

Table 1.2: Estimated Livestock Population (Million Nos.) 

Species 2017-181 2016-171 2015-161 
 

Cattle 46.1 44.4 42.8 

Buffalo 38.8 37.7 36.6 
    

1: Estimated gure based on inter census growth rate of Livestock Census 1996 & 2006 

 
The major products of livestock are milk and meat for the last three years is given in Table 1.3. 
 
Source: Ministry of National Food Security & Research 

Table: 1.3 Estimated Milk and Meat Production (000 Tones) 

Species 2017-181 2016-171 2015-161 
 

Milk (Gross Production) 57,890 56,080 54,328 

Cow 20,903 20,143 19,412 

Buffalo 35,136 34,122 33,137 

Milk (Human Consumption)2 46,682 45,227 43,818 

Cow 16,722 16,115 15,529 

Buffalo  27,298 26,510 

Meat3 4,262 4,061 3,873 

Beef 2,155 2,085 2,017 
    

1: The gures for milk and meat production for the indicated years are calculated by applying milk 

production parameters to the projected population of respective years based on the inter census growth 

rate of Livestock Census 1996 & 2006.  

3: Milk for human consumption is derived by subtracting 20% (15% wastage in transportation and 5% 

in calving) of the gross milk production of cows and buffalo.  

4: The figures for meat production are of red meat and do not include the edible offal’s.  

 
The estimated production of other livestock products for the last three years is given in Table 1.4. 
 
Source: Ministry of National Food Security & Research 

Table 1.4: Estimated Livestock Products Production 

Species Units 2017-181 2016-171 2015-161 

  

Hides 000 Nos 16,974 16,421 15,886 

Cattle 000 Nos 8,734 8,416 8,111 

Buffalo 000 Nos 8,131 7,897 7,669 
     

1: The gures for livestock product for the indicated years were calculated by applying production 

parameters to the projected population of respective years. 
 

 
According to Pakistan Economic Survey 2017-18, the population growth, increases in per capita income 
and export opportunities are fueling the demand of livestock and livestock products in the country. The 
overall livestock development strategy revolves around fostering "private sector - led development with 
public sector providing an enabling environment through policy interventions”. The regulatory measures 
are aimed at improving per unit animal productivity by improving health coverage, management practices, 
animal breeding practices, articial insemination services, use of balanced ration for animal feeding, and 
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controlling livestock diseases. The objective is to exploit the livestock sector and its potential to cater to 
domestic need, for economic growth, food security and rural socio-economic uplift. 
 

Company Review 
 
Your Company, as a major player in Pakistan’s dairy industry, has made encouraging advances and has 
continued its track-record of achieving key milestones. Building on our previous performances, the scal 
year ending June 2018 has once again been a period in which the Company’s turnover and profitability 
have soared to an all-time high. At-Tahur Limited has not only managed to maintain its sales above 6 
million liters mark for the third consecutive year, but also recorded a high nancial performance. This 
reects strong customer condence in the company and the value proposition offered to the customer. 

 
The Company continues to be committed to enhancing its product base through innovation and renovation 
which remains an integral part of the Company’s mission to provide fresh, pure and healthy dairy products. 
The major new product launches included:  
 
· Prema chocolate milk 180ml 
· Prema milk pasteurized 250ml 
· Yogurt low fat 400gm 
· Prema milk pasteurized 450ml 
· Prema milk low fat 250ml 
· Prema Yogurt pouch 500gm 

 

Safety, Health & Environment 
 
The Company is committed to provide a safe and healthy environment to all employees by strictly 
complying with all safety, health and environment rules and regulations. Ensuring the priorities, full care 
is taken for the safety of contractors, suppliers and all individuals in general who might be affected by the 
Company’s business operations. The Company employees actively work to prevent accidents, injuries and 
disease and make continuous efforts to identify, eliminate and manage all safety risks.  
 

Safety Policy 
 

We have taken following measures to ensure safety: 
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· Prepared and communicated Health and safety policy across the entire organization; 
· Made Hazard identication and risk control procedure to reduce the risk of accidents, injuries and 
disease transmission;  
· The Company conducts a number of general and special training programs for employees. The 
general safety training programs like reghting, basic safety and rst aid are aimed at empowering every 
employee to deal with emergency situations and avoid accidents. While job specic training includes 
machine safety and process safety. Complying with the standards only authorized members are allowed to 
perform a specic job. 
· The Company’s employee are provided with personal protective equipment like safety masks and 
gloves, etc. 
· The Company is ISO 9001 certied. 
 

Safety Record 
 

The Company recorded a zero- lost work day injury rating this year. This was made possible through 
immediate improvements and a number of measures that were taken which include continuous risk 
assessment, job safety analysis, awareness sessions, on job hazard identication, safety patrolling by trained 
members and safety walk by top management. As a result there has been no non-loss day injury since last 
year. 
 

HUMAN RESOURCE 
 

At-Tahur Limited recognizes the signicance of Human Resource. It focuses on acquiring the best talent 
and developing people to steer the Company to success. To accomplish customer delight, it aspires to have 
the right people in the right place at the right time. Its HR function is aligned towards developing human 
capacity to support business growth. 
 

Diversity and Inclusion 
 

The Company committed to afrmative action in support of equal opportunity employment and engagement 
of women in the workforce. 
 

Employee Engagement 
 

To challenge the physical and mental skill set of employees, a cricket tournament was held in March 2018 
at Model Town Greens Cricket Club. More than 50 employees participated in the competition. This 
competition further helped in improving team work and team building. 
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CORPORATE MATTERS & RELATED DISCLOSURES 
 
Composition of the Board 
 

The composition of the Board of Directors of the Company as at June 30, 2018 is as follows: 
 
1) The total number of directors are 7 as per the following: 
a) Male - 7 
b) Female - Nil  
2) The number of directors under respective categories are as follows: 
a) Independent Director  - 2 
b) Non-Executive Directors - 4 
c) Executive Directors  - 1 
 

Board of Directors Meetings 
 
A total of Four (04) meetings of the Board of Directors were held during 12 month period from July 01, 
2017 to June 30, 2018. Name of the directors (at any time during the year) alongwith their attendance at 
the Board Meetings is as follows: 
 

Sr# Name of Directors Meetings Attended 

1 Mr. Rasikh Elahi 4 

2 Mr. Shabbi Zahid Ali 4 

3 Mr. Humza Chaudhry 1 

4 Mr. Aurangzeb Firoz - 

5 Mr. Muhammad Afzal 1 

6 Mr. Amar Zafar Khan - 

7 Mr. Ijaz Nisar - 

8 Mr. Muhammad Ijaz Awan - 

 
However, leave of absence was granted to the Directors who could not attend the Board Meetings due to 
preoccupations. 
 

Changes in Directors 
 

During the year, 1 casual vacancy occurred on the Board. Mr. Humza Chaudhry resigned as Director with 
effect from 25 November 2017 and Mr. Aurangzeb Firoz was appointed as Director with effect from 25 
November 2017. 
 
Subsequent to the reporting date, Syed Kashif -ul- Hassan was appointed as a director in place of Mr. 
Muhammad Afzal. 
 
The Board acknowledged the valuable contributions made by the outgoing Directors and welcomed the 
new Directors on the Board. 
 

Committees of the Board 
 
The Board has formed the following Committees and details of members is as under: 
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(fully operational since listing of the Company w. e. f. 30 July 2018)  
 
Sr#  Name of Members Designation 

1 Mr. Aurangzeb Firoz Chairman 
2 Mr. Shabbi Zahid Ali Director 
3 Mr. Amar Zafar Khan Director 

 

2) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee 
 
(Fully operational since listing of the Company w. e. f. 30 July 2018) 
 
Sr# Name of Members Designation 
1 Mr. Ijaz Nisar Chairman 
2 Mr. Shabbi Zahid Ali Director 
3 Mr. Rasikh Elahi Director 

 

Salient features of Remuneration policy for Non- Executive Directors 
 
The Board acknowledge the valuable contributions being made by the Non- Executive directors, and 
currently a meeting fee is being offered for attendance and participation in Board meeting, while this does 
not reect compensation of their contributions and just represents a token of appreciation. The Non-
Executive directors may waive their rights to receive such remuneration for attending and participation in 
the above meetings. 
 

Principal Risk and Uncertainties 
 
Despite the fact that the Company’s financial performance is exceptional from the past years, however, 
continuous depreciation of Pak Rupee against various currencies, general ination and rise in international 
commodity prices will be vital factors that may have an impact on the future nancial statements of the 
Company. The company welcomes new competition, however, consistent Government policies are required 
along with creating a level playing eld for the existing players of the industry for sustainable growth. 
 

Internal Control 
 
The Company has employed an effective system of internal controls to carry on the business of the 
Company in an orderly manner, safeguard its assets and secure the accuracy and reliability if its records. 
The Management supervision and reviews are an essential element of the system of internal controls. The 
Board ensures adequacy of internal control activities either directly or through its Committees. The Board 
also reviews the Company’s financial operations and position at regular intervals by means of interim 
accounts, reports, protability reviews and other nancial and statistical information. 

 
Risk management 
 
At-Tahur Limited has formal risk management framework to assess the risks faced in the context of the 
broader political and macroeconomic environment. The risk management system identies strategic, 
regulatory, nancial, operational, reputational, and sustainability risks related to business activities. The 
risks are reviewed by management committee along with departmental objectives, targets and performance. 
Appropriate strategies are developed and implemented to minimize the impact of the identied risks. 
  

   1) Audit Committee  
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Financial Statements 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in Pakistan and provisions of and 
directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed in preparation of the nancial 
statements. Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS, 
the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed. 
 
The auditors of the company, M/s Riaz Ahmad & Co., Chartered Accountants, audited the nancial 
statements of the Company and have issued an unqualied report to the members. 
 

Pattern of Shareholding 
 
The Pattern of Shareholding of the Company as at June 30, 2018, is given in the Annual Report. 

 
Appointment of Auditors 
 

The existing auditors, M/s Riaz Ahmad & Co., Chartered Accountant retire and being eligible, offer 
themselves for re -appointment. The Directors endorse the recommendation of the Audit Committee for re-
appointment of M/s Riaz Ahmad & Co, as the auditors for the year ending June 30, 2019. 
 

Related Party Transactions 
 
All transactions with related parties have been disclosed in the nancial statements under review. 

 
Key Operating and Financial Data 
 
The Key Operating and Financial Data for the last six years is annexed.  
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Chairman’s Review 
 
The Directors of the company endorse the contents of the Chairman’s review, dealing with the overall 
performance of the Company, future outlook and report on the performance and effectiveness of the Board. 
 

Corporate Social Responsibility 
 
The company strongly believes in integration of corporate social responsibility into its business that are 
inuenced directly or indirectly by our business.  

 
Moving Forward 
 
Future moving forward, your Company plans to secure new and exciting products that will further strengthen 
the existing product slate to provide a wider choice to customers and ensure sustainable growth and value 
creation.  
 
After the formation of the newly elected government, we anticipate that policies are to be made to overcome 
the economic challenges. Initiatives to be taken to increase investments and localization. 

 
No material changes and commitments affecting the nancial position of the Company occurred between 30 
June 2018 and 01 October 2018. 

 
Acknowledgement 
 
We are grateful to our customers for their continued patronage of our products and wish to acknowledge the 
efforts of the entire At-Tahur team, including our staff, vendors, dealers and all business partners for their 
untiring efforts in these challenging times and look to their continued support. 
 
We bow to the Almighty and pray for His blessings and guidance. 
 
 

___________________ 

Rasikh Elahi 

 ___________________ 

Syed Kashif-ul-Hassan 

Chief Executive  Director 

 
Lahore 
01 October 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the members of At-Tahur Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the annexed financial statements of At-Tahur Limited (the Company'), 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, and the statement of 

profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, 

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 

and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best 

of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 

us, the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of 

comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows 

together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting 

standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the Companies Act, 

2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Company's affairs as at 30 June 2018 and of the profit, other comprehensive 

Income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as 

applicable in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financia! Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 

for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (The CodeO and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 

significance in our audit of the flnanciai statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 

our. opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

A mernber of 

Nexla 
!n«:ernationol 
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Following are the key audit matters: 

Key audit matters 

Fair value recognition of biological 

assets 

As at 30 June 2018, the carrying value of 

the Company's biological assets 

comprising of heifers / calves, bulls and 
milking cows (collectively referred to as 

'dairy livestock'), amounted to Rupees 

683.650 million, which approximates the 
fair value less costs to sell representing 

27.38% of its total assets. 

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the 

Company has recognized fair value gain 

of Rupees 205.260 million arising from 

the changes in fair value less costs to sell 

due to biological transformation of dairy 

livestock, changes in prices of the dairy 

livestock of similar attributes and 

changes in foreign currency exchange 

rates at the reporting date. 

Dairy livestock are measured on initial 
recognition and at -the end of each 

reporting date at their fair value less 

costs to sell. The determination of the fair 

value requires significant management's 

judgement regarding inter alia, the 

species, age, culling rates and growing 

condition of the dairy livestock. The 

management employs independent 

valuers to support its determination of 

the fair value of the dairy livestock at the 

end.of each reporting date. 

For further information on biological 

assets, refer to the following: 

How the matters were addressed rn 
our audit 

Our audit procedures in relation to the 

determination of fair value of biological 

assets, amongst others, included the 
following: 

• We obtained understanding and 

assessed the Company's internal 
controls over the determination of 

fair value of dairy llvestock at each 

reporting date; 

• We assessed the appropriateness 

of the Company's accounting 

policies for recognition of changes 

in fair value of biological assets at 

each reporting date based on the 

results of valuation of dairy 

livestock by independent valuers 

and compliance of those policies 

with accounting and reporting 

standards; 

• We assessed the reasonableness 

of valuation of dairy livestock by 

reviewing the representations 

given by the management to the 

independent valuers, challenging 

and performing audit procedures 
on key assumptions, estimates 

and accuracy of the data provided 

by the management and 
comparing the. key assumptions 

and estimates to the historical 

data which were used as basis by 

the independent valuers; 

Summa of significant 

2 
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Key audit matters 

accounting policies, Dairy 

livestock note 2.5 to the 

financial statements. 
Biological assets note 14 to the 

financial statements. 

How the matters were addressed m 

our audit 

• We considered the objectivity, 

independence and expertise of the 

independent valuers; 

« We reviewed the adequacy and 

appropriateness of the disclosures 

relating to the fair value 
measurement of biological assets 

in the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting and 

reporting standards. 

Deferred income tax asset 

Under International Accounting Standard 

12 "Income Taxes", the Company is 

required to review recoverability of the 

deferred income tax asset recognized in 

the statement of financial position at 

each reporting period. 

Recognition of deferred income tax asset 
is dependent on management's estimate 

of availability of sufficient future taxable 

profits against which carried forward 

losses and tax credits can be utilized. The 

future taxable profits are based on 

approved management's projections. 

This estimation is inherently uncertain 

and requires judgement in relation to the 

future cash flows and also involves 

assessment of timing of reversals of 

unused tax.losses and tax credits. 

As at 30 June 2018, the Company have 

recognized deferred income tax assets 
amounting to Rupees 152.241 million on 

unused tax losses, carried forwarded 

minimum tax and provision for workers' 

profit participation fund. 

Our procedures included, but. were not 

limited to: 

• We obtained understanding of the 

income taxes process, and 

evaluated the design and tested 
management's controls over the 

calculation of the deferred income 

tax asset and the review of the 
future recoverability; 

^ We tested management's 

computation of unused tax losses, 

carried forwarded minimum tax 

and provision for workers' profit 

participation fund for which 

deferred income tax assets were 
recognized; 

- We analyzed the requirements of 

Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, in 
relation to above and considering 

the ageing analysis, expiry periods 

of relevant deferred income tax 

assets and tax rates enacted in 
•.consultation with our in-house tax 

specialist; 

3 
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Sr. Key audit matters 

No. 

We considered this as key audit matter 

due to significant value of deferred 

income tax asset and significant 
management judgement regarding 

assumptions used in this area. 

For further information on deferred 

income tax asset, refer to the following: 

- Summary of significant 

accounting policies, Taxation 

(Note 2.2 to the financial 

statements). 

- Deferred Income tax asset 

(Note 15 to the financial 

statements). 

3. Revenue recognition 

How the matters were addressed in 

our audit   

• We assessed the reasonableness 

of cash flow projection, taxable 

profits projections, challenging 

and performing audit procedures 

on assumptions such as herd 

growth rate, milk production 
patterns, changes in milk yield, 

future revenue and costs, by 

comparing the assumptions to 

historical results, approved budget 

and comparing the current year's 

results with prior year forecast and 

other relevant Information for 

assessing the quality of 
Company's forecasting process in 

determining the future taxable 

profits; 

• We tested mathematical accuracy 

of future projections and the use 

of appropriate tax rate applicable 

on temporary .timing differences; 

and 

• We assessed the" appropriateness 

of management's accounting for 

deferred income taxes and the 

accuracy of related disclosures in 
accordance with the accounting 

and reporting standards.   

The Company generates revenue from Our procedures included, but "were not 

sale of goods to domestic customers. limited to: 

We Identified revenue recognition as key 

audit matter as it Is one of the key 

performance indicators of the Company 

and because of the potential risk that 

revenue transactions may not 'be 

recognized in the appropriate period. 

We obtained an understanding of 

and assessed the design and 
operating effectiveness of controls 

designed to ensure that revenue is 

recognized in the appropriate 

accounting period; 
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Key audit matters 

For further information on revenue 
recognition, refer to the following: 

- Summary of significant 

accounting, policies. Revenue 
recognition note 2.14 to the 

financial statements. 

- Revenue note 20 to the 

financial statements. 

How the matters were addressed in 

our audit   

o We assessed the appropriateness 

of the Company's accounting 
policies for revenue recognition 

and compliance of those policies 

with applicable accounting 

standards; 

• We performed audit measures 

that included comparing sales 

transactions recognized at the 

turn of the financial period to 

documentation supporting 

revenue recognition, analysis of 

nominal ledger entries to identify 

uncommon entries and-comparing 

outstanding sales receivables at 

the turn of the ftnancial period 

with payment transactions; and 

• We inspected credit.notes Issued 

to record sales returns subsequent 

to year end, if any. 

Preparation of financial statements 

under the Companies Act, 2017 

The Companies Act 2017 (the Act) 

became applicable for the first time for 

the preparation of the Company's annual 

financial statements for the year ended 

30 June 2018. 

The Act forms an integral part of the 

statutory financial reporting framework 

as applicable to the Company and 

amongst others, prescribes the -nature 

and content of disclosures in relation to 

various elements of the financial 

statements. 

Our procedures included, but were not 

limited to: 

• We assessed the procedures 

applied by the management for 
identification of the changes 

required in the financial 

statements due the application of 

the Act. 

« We considered the adequacy and 
appropriateness of the additional 

disclosures and changes to the 

previous disclosures based on the 

new requirements. 
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Key audit matters 

In case of the Company, specific 

additional disclosures and changes to the 
existing disclosures have been included in 

the financial statements. 

The above changes and enhancements in 

the financial statements are considered 

importantand a key audit matter because 

of the volume and significance of the 

changes in the financial statements 

resulting from the transition to. the new 

reporting requirements under the Act. 

For further information, refer to note 

2.1(b) to the financial statements. 

How the matters were addressed in 

our audit 

• We verified on test basis the 

supporting evidences for the 

additional disclosures and ensured 

appropriateness of the disclosures 

made. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

Management is responsible for the other Information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of 

the Company and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in 

Pakistan and the requirements of Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that-are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 

intends to liquidate" the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 

to do so. 

Board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free "from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance"is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in 

Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the-economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting-from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control 

® Evaluate-the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 'whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related 
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disclosures in the financial statements-or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the'Company 

to cease to continue as a going concern. 

9 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the-board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in Internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have compiled with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period 

and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 

the public interest benefits of such communication- 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion: 

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the 
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017); 

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash 

flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the 

Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement .with the books of account 

and returns; 

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year 
were for the purpose of the Company's business; and 
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d) no zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 {XVIII 

of 1980). 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Atif 

Anjum. 

RIAZ AjiwAD & COMPANY 

Chartered Accountants 

Lahore 

Date: olOCl 20'.3 
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AT-TAHUR LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTE 2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

SALES 

GAIN ARISING ON INITIAL RECOGNITION OF MILK AT FAIR VALUE 
LESS COSTS TO SELL AT THE TIME OF MILKING 

GAINS ARISING FROM CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO 
SELL OF DAIRY LIVESTOCK 

20 

21.1 

14.1 

1,204,453,369 

499,684,577 

205,260,877 

953,902.663 

502,597,234 

96,117,112 

OPERATING COSTS 21 

1,909,398,923 

(1,356,974,281} 

1.562,617,009 

(1.172,091.368) 

550,424,642 •390,525,641 
ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES 

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES 
OTHER EXPENSES 

22 

23 

24 

(104,144,814) 

(180,447,890) 

(128,718,481) 

(92,964,323) 

(136,150,582) 

(69,962,960) 

(413,311,185) (299,077.365) 

other Income 25 

137,113,457 

32,647,367 

91.447.776 
2,793:284 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 169,760,824 94,241.060 

FINANCE COST 26 (9.208,689) (5,478,730) 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 160.552,136 88,762.330 

TAXATION. 27 17,128,224 22.663.931 

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 177,680,359 111,426:261 

EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED (RUPEES) 28 1.62 1.01 

The annexed notes form an integraf part of these financial statements. 

CH EF EXECUTIVE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER DRECT 



AT-TAHUR LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2018 

Rupees 

177,680,359 

2017 

Rupees 

111,426,261 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss: 

Remeasurement of plan obligation 1,897,152 3,405,016 

Income tax on remeasurement of plan obligation (569,146) (1,055,555) 

Other comprehensive income for the year - net of lax 1,328,006 2,349,461 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR •179,008,365 113.775,722 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 



AT-TAHUR LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

Balance as af30 June 2016 

Profit lor the year 
Other comprehensive Income for the year 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Balance as at 30 June 2017 

Profit for the year 
Olher comprehensive income for the year 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Balance as at 30 June 2018 

SHARE CAPITAL 
REVENUE RESERVE 

UNAPPROPRIATED 
PROFIT 

TOTAL 

  RIIDPCQ  

1,100,000,000 38,879,790 1,136,879,790 

111.426.261 
2,349,461 

111,426,261 
2.349,461 

113,775.722 113,775,722 

1,100.000.000 152,655,512 1.252.655.512 

177,680,359 
1.328,006 

177,680.359 
1,328.006 

179,008,366 179,008,355 

1.100,000,000 331.663.877 1,431.663,877 

. if 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OIREC 



AT-TAHUR LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Profit before taxation 

Adjustments tor non-cash charges and other items: 

Depreciation 
Gain on sale of operating fixed assets 
Gains arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of dairy livestock 
Loss on sale of dairy livestock - net 
Loss due to death of dairy livestock 
Profit on bank deposits 
Provision for employees' retirement benefit 
Amortization of deferred income 
Finance cost 

Cash generated from operating activities before working capital changes 

(Increase) I decrease in current assets: 

Cash generated from operations 

Finance cost paid 
Income tax paid 
Net decrease / (increase) in security deposits 

Net cash generated from operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment 
Purchase of dairy livestock 
Proceeds from sale of property, planl and equipment 
Proceeds from sale of dairy livestock 
Return on bank deposits 

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITfES 

Short temi borrowings - not 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 

Long term linancing obtained 
Share deposit money received / (repaid) 
Net cash from I (used in) financing activities 

Net increase In cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

160,552,135 

38,783.811 
(666.478) 

(205.260,8??) 
73,266,314 
49.312,680 

(13,071) 
8.869.924 

(4.838.382) 
9,208.689 

129,214,745 

88,762,330 

32,558,522 
{233.146) 

(96,117,112) 
7.565,735 

57,664,897 
(277,219) 

6,506,705 
{967,676} 

5,478,730 

100,941.766 

Inventories 2,535,156 (21,015.652) 
Stores (497^975) (2,403,505) 
Trade debts (20.573,999) (41.929.823) 
Short term advances and other recelvabfes (40,463,818) 462.336 
Short te/rn prepayment (596,972) 109,575 
Sales tax recoverable (4.018.470) 2.074.539 
Increase in current liabilities: 
Trade and other payabfes 53,922,135 6.323.830 

119.515,801 

(5,265,565) 
(33.209.606) 

4,059.100' 

lOD.O/O./lJUJ 

44,563.066 

(5,453,514) 
(15,840,374) 

{9,471,586) 

85.109,728 13,797,592 

(275:746,929) 
{160,211,123) 

1,215,000 
36,788,722 

13,071 

(48,907.557) 

20.090.000 
88,381.839 

277,219 

(397,941,259) 60,341.501 

81,087,994 

{27,139,376) 

239,207,375 
419,199.666 

12,366,628 

(1,460,827) 

(49.000,000) 
712,355,659 (38.094.199) 

399,524,128 

65.391.323 

36.044.894 

29.346,429 

464,915.451 66,391.323 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 



AT- TAHUR LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

THE COMPANY AND ITS OPERATIONS 

At-Tahiif Limited ("the Company") is a public limited Company incorporated in Pakistan on 16 March 2007 
under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (Now Companies Act, 2017). The Company was incorporated as a 
pnvate limited Company and subspquentiy converted into a public limited Company with effect from 28 

September 2015. The principal activity of the Company is to run dairy farm for the production and processing 
of milk and dairy products. The registered office of the Company is situated at 182-Abii Bakar Block. Mew 

Garden Town: Lahore. 

The Board of Directors of the Company in its meeting held on 13 December 2017 decided to initiate, the 
proceedings for enfisting of the Company on the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. Hence, the Company 
issued the prospectus for Initial Public Offer (IPO) of 36,667.000 ordinary shares of Rupees 10 each at a 

floor price of Rupees 20 per share including share premium of Rupees 10 per share as on .13 June 2018. 
Details regarding utilization of IPO proceeds for dairy farm and plant expansion have been fully explained in 
the prospectus. Before the dose of the reporting period, 27,500,000 ordinary shares were offered and 

successfully subscribed through book building process by Institutional Investors and High Net Worth 

Individuals (HNWI) at a strike price of Rupees 21 per share while the remaining 9,167,000 ordinary shares 
were offered to general public.for subscription at strike price of Rupees 21 per share subsequent to the 
reporting date. Ordinary shares offered to general public were fully subscribed and shares-have been duly 

allotted to all shareholders. As oh 23 July 2018, Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited has approved the 
Company's application for formal listing and quotation of the shares on Pakistan Stock Exchange. 

1.3 Geographical location and addresses of ail business units are as follows: 

No, Dafry F^rm' D'sir'blJttdn Centers and Office 

Dairy farm 

Distribution Centers: 
Lahore 

Rawalpindi 

Office 

Address 

Kotli Rai Abu bakar,. District Kasur 

The Enterprise Building, 1 KM, Thokar Nlaz Baig, 

Near Eden Value Homes, Multan Road, Lahore 
Modern Flour Mills, Maseerabad, Peshawar Road,. 
Rawalpindi 

182, Abu Bakar Bfock, Nev/Garden Town, Lahore 

1,4 Summary of significant transactions and events affecting the Company's financial position and 

performance 

a) The exchange rate of United States Dollar to Pak Rupees has increased from Pak Rupees 104.8 as at 30 
June 2017 to-Pak Rupees 121.6 as at 30 June 2018. 

b) For a detailed discussion about the Company's performance, please refer to the Directors' report. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of Ihese financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated: 



Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards 
as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of: 

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and 

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017. 

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRSs, the 
provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.have been followed. 

Preparation of financial statements under the Companies Act, 2017 

The Fourth Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 became applicable to the Company for the first time for 
the preparation of these financial statements. The Companies Act, 2017 (including its Fourth Schedufe) 
forms an integral part of the statutory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company and amongst 
others, prescribes the nature and content of disclosures in relation to various elements of the financial 
statements. Additional disclosures include but are not limited to, particulars of immovable assets of .the 
Company (refer note 13.1:1), management assessment of sufficiency of tax provision in the financial 

statements (refer note 27.1),-change In threshold for identification of executives (refer note 31}, additional 
disclosure requirements for related parties (refer note 32) etc. 

Accounting convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention .except for biological 
assets which are carried at fair value less costs to sell and employees' retirement benefit liability at present 

value, 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards requires the 

use of certain critical accounting-estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Company's accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience, including expectation of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The areas where various assumptions and estimates are significant to 

the Company's financial statements or where judgments were exercised in application of accounting policies 
are as follows; 

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment 

The Company reviews the useful lives and residua! values of property, plant and equipment on regular 
basis. Any change in estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of 
property, plant and equipment with a corresponding effect on the depreciation charge and impainnent. 

Provision for taxation 

The Company takes into account the current income tax law and the decisions taken by appellate 
authorities. Instances where the Company's view differs from the view taken by the income lax department 

at the assessment stage and where the Company considers that its view on items of material nature is in 
accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities. 

Fair valuation of biological assets 

The Company values its biological assets at fair value less costs to sell. Any change in estimate might affect 

the carrying amount of the biological asset with a corresponding charge to the statement of profit or loss. 

Inventories 

Net realizable value of inventories is determined with reference to currently prevailing selling prices (ess 
estimated expenditure to make sales. 



Provision for doubtful debts 

The Company reviews its receivable against any provision required for any doubtful balances on an ongoing 

basis. The provision is made while taking into consideration expected recoveries, if any. 

Employees' retirement benefit 

The Company uses the valuation performed by an independent actuary as the present value of its retirement 
benefit obligation. The valuation is based on assumptions as mentioned in note 6,5. 

Amendments to published approved accounting standards that are effective in current period 

Following amendments to published approved accounting standards- are mandatory for the Company's 

accounting periods beginning on or after 01 July 2017: 

(AS 7 (Amendments), 'Statement of Cash Flows' (effective for annual periods beginning on or.after 0.1 
January 2017). Amendments have been made to clarify that entities shall provide disclosures that enable 
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The aforesaid 
amendments have resulted in certain additional disclosures in the Company's financial statements. 

IAS 12 (Amendments), 'Income Taxes' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after OF Januan/ 2017}. 
The amendments clarify that the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a 

comparison of (he carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period, and is not 
affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of the asset. The 
amendments further clarify that when calculating deferred tax asset in respect of insufficient taxable 

temporary differences, the future taxable profit excludes tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those 
deductible temporary differences. The amendments- have no significant impact on Company's financial 
statements. 

The application of the above amendments does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other 
comprehensive income and total comprehensive income. 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are 

not yet effective but relevant to the Company 

Following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published and are 
mandatory for the Company's accounting periods beginning on or after 01 July 2018 or later periods: 

IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 July 2018). A finalized 
version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting requirements for financial instruments, replacing IAS 39 

'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. Financial assets are classified by reference to the 
business model within which they are held and their contractual cash flow characteristics. The 2014 version 
of IFRS 9 introduces a 'fair value through other comprehensive income' category for certain debt 
instruments. Financial liabilities are classified in a similar manner to under- IAS 39. however there are 
differences in the requirements applying to the measurement of ah entity's own credit risk. The 2014 version 
of IFRS 9 introduces an 'expected credit loss' model for the measurement of the impairment of financial 
assets, so it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before a credit loss is recognized. It 
introduces a new hedge accounting model that is designed to-be more closely aligned with how entitles 
undertake risk management activities when hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures. The 
requirements for the derecognltion of financial assets and liabilities are carried forward from IAS 39. The 
management of the Company is in the process of evaluating the impacts of the aforesaid standard on the 

Company's financial statements. 



IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 July 
2018), IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with 

customers. The five steps in the model are: identify the contract with the customer; identify the performance 
obligations in the contract; determine the transaction price: allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contracts; and recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation. Guidance is provided on topics such as the point in which revenue is recognized, accounting for 

variable consideration, costs of fulfilling and obtaining a contract and various related matters. New 
disclosures about revenue are a I so. introduced. The aforesaid standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company's financial statements. 

IFRS 16 'Lease' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019). IFRS 16 specifies how 
ah entity will recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee 

accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize"assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 
12 months or'less or the underlying asset has a low vaiue. Lessors continue to classify (eases as operating 
or finance, with IFRS 16 approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 
17 leases'. IFRS 16 replaces.(AS 17, IFRIC 4. 'Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease', 

SIC-15 'Operating Leases-Incentives' and SlC-27 'Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 
Legal Fomi of a Lease', The management of the Company is in the process of evaluating the impacts of the 
aforesaid standard on the Company's financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 9 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019) clarify that for 
the purpose of assessing whether a prepayment feature meets the solely payments of principal and interest 
{'SPPI') condition, the party exercising the option may pay or receive reasonabfe compensation for the 

prepayment irrespective of the reason for prepayment In other words, prepayment features with negative 
compensation do not automatically fail SPPI. The amendments are not likely to have significant impact on 
the Company's financial statements. 

IFRS 15 (Amendments), 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 01 July 2018). Amendments clarify three aspects of the standard (identifying performance 
obligations, principal versus agent considerations, and licensing) and to provide some transition relief for 

modified contracts and completed contracts. The aforesaid amendments are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company's financial statements. 

IFRIC 22 'Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration' (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 01 January 2018). IFRIC 22 clarifies which date should be used for translation when a 
foreign currency transaction involves payment or receipt in advance of the item it relates to. The related item 
is translated using the exchange rate on the date the advance foreign currency is received or paid and the 
prepayment or deterred income is recognized. The date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the 
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) would 

remain (he date on which receipt of payment from advance consideration was recognized. If (here are- 
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the entity shall determine a date of the transaction for each 
payment or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation is not expected to have a material impact.on 
the Company's financial statements. 

IFRIC 23 'Uncertainly over Income Tax Treatments' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 
January 2019). The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused 
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 
12 'Income Taxes'. It specifically considers: whether tax treatments should be considered collectively; 

assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations; the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 

unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and the effect of changes in facts and circumstances. 
The Interpretation is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. 



On 12 December 2017, !ASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2015 - 2017 Cycle, incorporating 
amendments to four IFRSs more specifically in IFRS 3 'Business Combinations', IFRS 11 'Joint 
Arrangements', IAS 12 'Income Taxes' and IAS 23 'Borrowing Costs', The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The amendments have no significant impact on the 
Company's financial statements and have therefore not been analyzed in detail. 

On 29 March 2018, the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) has issued a revised 
Conceptual Framework. The new Framework: reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence; introduces 
a new asset definition that focuses on rights and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the 
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction between a liability and an equity instrument; 
removes from the asset and liability definitions references to the expected flow of economic benefits-this 
lowers the hurdle tor identifying the existence of an asset or liability and puts more emphasis on reflecting 

uncertainty in measurement: discusses historical cost and current value measures, and provides some 
guidance on how the IASB would go about selecting a measurement basis for a particular, asset .or liability; 
states that the primary measure of financial performance is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional 
circumstances will the IASB use other comprehensive income and only for income or expenses, that arise 
from a change in the current value of an asset or liability: and discusses uncertainty, derecognilion, unit of 

account, the reporting entity and combined financial siaternerits. The Framework is not an IFRS standard 
and does not override any standard,.so nothing will change in the shod term. The revised Framework will be 
used in future standard-setting decisions, but no changes will be made to current IFRS. Preparers might also 
use the Framework to assist them in developing accounting policies where an issue is not addressed byan 
IFRS. It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after .1 January 2020 for preparers that develop an 
accounting policy based on the Framework. 

Standards and amendments to approved published standards that are not yet effective and not 
considered relevant to the Company 

There are other standards and amendments to published standards that are mandatory for accounting 

periods beginning on or after 01 July 2018 but are considered not to be relevant or do not have any 
significant impact on the Company's financial .statements and are therefore not detailed in these financial 

statements. 

Taxation 

Current 

•Provision for taxation is based on taxable income for the year determined in accordance with the prevailing 

law for the taxation of income. The charge for the year is calculated using the prevailing lax rates or tax rates 
expected to apply to the profit for the year if enacted after taking into account available tax credits and 
rebates, it any. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments, where considered necessary, to 

provision for lax made in previous years arising from assessments framed during the year for such years. 

Deferred 

Deferred tax js accounted for using the liability method in respect of all temporary differences arising from 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding lax bases used in the computation of the taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax tosses and 
tax crediiscan be utilized. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse 

based on tax rates that have been enacted or subsfantivety enacted by the reporting date. Defetred tax is 
charged or credited in the statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,- the tax is also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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Foreign currencies 

These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company's functional currency. All 

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees at the rates 
of exchange prevailing at the reporting date, while the transactions in foreign currencies during the year are 
initially recorded in functional currency at the rates of exchange prevailing at the transaction date. All non- 
monetary items are translated into Pak Rupees at exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction or on 
the date when fair values are determined. Exchange gains and losses are recorded in We statement of profit 

or loss. 

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

Owned 

Property, plant and equipment except freehold land and capital work-in-progress are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost of property, plant and equipment 
consists of historical cost, borrowing, cost pertaining to errection f conslruclion period of qualifying assets 
and other directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition. Freehold land and capital 
work-in-progress is stated at cost less any identified impairment loss. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably, All other repair and maintenance costs are 

charged to statement of profit or loss during the year in v/hich they are incurred. 

Leased 

Leases where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance lease. Assets subject to finance lease-are capitalized at the commencement of the lease term at the 
lower of present value of minimum lease payments under the lease agreements and the fair value of the 
leased assets, each determined at the inception of the lease. 

The related rental obligation net of finance cost is included in liabilities against assets subject to finance 

lease. The liabilities are classified as current, and non-current depending upon the timing of payments. Each 
lease payment is allocated between the liability and.finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate on the 
balance outstanding. The finance cost is charged to the statement of profit or loss over the lease term. 

Depreciation of assets subject to finance lease is recognized in the same manner as for owned assets. 
Depreciation of the leased assets is charged to the statement of profit or loss. 

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties. They are depreciated over 
their expected useful lives on a basis-consistent with simitar owned property, plant and equipment. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is computed over the useful economic lives of the related assets and charged to statement of 
profit or loss applying reducing balance method at the rates specified in note 13.1 to these financial 

statements. Depreciation on additions is-charged from the month in which the assets are available for use 
and on deletions up to the month in which the assets are deleted. 

Useful life of assets is reviewed at each financial year end and if expectations differ from previous estimates 
the change is accounted for as change in accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 'Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors'. 

i 
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De-recognition 

An item of properly, plant and equipment is de-recognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the assets) is 
included in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is de-recognized. 

Biological assets 

Dairy livestock are measured on initial recognition and at end of each reporting period at their fair value less 
costs to sell. Fair value of dairy livestock is determined by independent valuers on the basis of best available 

estimates for livestock dairy of similar altfibutes. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable 
to the disposal of an asset mainly comprises of transportation costs. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of dairy livestock are recognized in the 

statement of profit or loss. 

Dairy livestock are categorized as mature or immature. Mature dairy livestock are those that have attained 

harvestabte specifications. Immature dairy livestock have not yet reached that stage. 

Ijarah transactions 

Ujrah (lease) payments are recognized as expenses in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basts 
over the Ijarah temi unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the user's 
benefit even if the payments are not on that basis. 

Stores 

These are valued at weighted average cost except for items in transit, which are stated at invoice value plus 
other charges paid thereon till the reporting date. Adequate provision is also made for slow moving .items. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined as follows: 

i) Agriculture produce: At fair value less costs to sell at the time of milking 
ii) Forage, packing materials and other At weighted average cost 

inventory items: 
Jii) Finished / manufactured goods: At average manufacturing cost including a proportion of 

production overheads. 

Net realizable value signifies the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make a sale. 

Agricultural produce harvested from the Company's biological assets is raw milk. Upon harvest, agricultural 
produce is initially recognized as inventory at its fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest, which is 

determined based on its market prices quoted in the local area. Any resulting gain or loss arising on initial 
recognition of such fair values is recognized in the statement of profit or loss in (he period of harvest. Upon 

subsequent sales, such amount of the inventories initially recognized is recognized in profit or loss as 
operating costs. 

Trade debts and other receivables 

Trade debts and other receivables are carried at original invoice amount being the fair value. Provision is 

made against debts.considered doubtful on a review of a!! outstanding amounts at the year end. Bad debts 
are written off when considered irrecoverable. 

i 



2.10 Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortized cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds and the redemption value Is recognized in the statement of profit or loss 

over the period of the borrowings using effective interest method. 

Borrowing cost 

Interest, mark-up and other charges on long-term finances-are capitalized up to the dale of commissioning of 

respective qualifying assets acquired out of the proceeds of such long-term finances. All other interest, 
mark-up and other charges are recognized in statement of profit or loss. 

2.12 Sharecapital 

Ordinary shares are classified as share capital, incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares, net of any tax effects, are recognized as a deduction from equity. 

2.13 Trade and other payables 

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are initially recognized at fair value v/hich is normally the 

transaction cost. 

2.14 Revenue recognition 

Revenue from different sources is recognized as under: 

- Revenue from sale of agricultural produce is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable at the time ot dispatch of goods to the customer. 
- Revenue from sale of finished goods is recognized on dispatch of goods to customers. 
- Profit on bank deposits is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account, the principal 

outstanding and rates of profits applicable.thereon-. 

2.15 Financial instruments 

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include deposits, trade debts, advances 
and other receivables, cash and bank balances, short-term borrowings, long term musharika, liabilities 
against assets subject to finance lease, accrued mark-up and trade and other payables etc. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of instrument. Initial recognition is made at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to 
acquisition, except for "financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss" v/hich are initially measured 
at fair value. 

Financial assets are de-recognized when the Company loses control of the contractual rights that comprise 
the financial asset. The Company loses such control if it realizes the rights to benefits specified in contract, 
the rights expire or the Company surrenders those rights. Financial liabilities are de-recognized v/hen the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. Any gain or loss on subsequent 

measurement {except available for sale investments) and derrecognition is charged to the statement of profit 
or loss currently. The particular measurement methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy 

statements associated with each item, 

2.16 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized v/hen the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events and it is probable-that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligations and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. However, provisions are reviewed at 
each reporting date and adjusted to reflect current best estimate. 
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2,17 Impairment 

a) Financial assets 

A. financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicate that one or more events bad a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as a difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest raid. An impairment loss in respect of available for sale financial assets is calculated with 

reference to its current fair value. 

individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining 
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics: 

b) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts, of the Company's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
such asset is eslimaled. An impairment loss is recognized wherever the carrying amount of the-asset, 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change-in (he estimates used to 

determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is (he case, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment (oss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

2.18 Offsetting.of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set off and the net amount is reported in the financial statements 
when there is a legal enforceable right to set off and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalent comprise cash in hand, cash at banks on current accounts, saving and deposit 
accounts and other short term highly liquid instruments that are readily convertible into known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in values. 

2.20 Dividend and other appropriations 

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Company's financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are declared and other appropriations are recognized in the 
period in which these are approved by the Board of Directors, 

2.21 Employees' retirement benefit 

The Company operates an unfunded gratuity scheme for all of its employees who have completed the 
qualifying period as-defined under the scheme. As per gratuity scheme, employees of the Company are 
entitled to gratuity equivalent to last drawn salary multiplied by the numbers of year of service up to the date 
of leaving the Company. The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined 
benefit obligation is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the ehd'of the reporting period less 
fair value of plan assets, if any. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuary 
using the projected unit credit method. The charge for the year is based on actuarial valuation. The amount 
arising as a result of remeasurements is recognized in the statement of financial position immediately, with a 
charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the periods in which they occur. Past-service costs are 

recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss. 

i 



3 AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL 

2018. 2017 
Number of shares 

150,000,000 150,000,000 Ordinary stiares ol Rupees 10 each 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

1.500,000.000 1,500.000,000 

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL 

2018 2017 
Number of shares 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

110,000,000 110,000,000 Ordinary shares of Rupees 10 each fulty pad in cash 1,100,000,000 1,100,000.000 

Hayat Khsn (Privafe) Limiled - assccialed cpuipany, chiei executive and diredors of ihc Company held Nil (2017: 3,000,000), 66.618.751, (2017:63.310,758) and 
1 .COS <2017; 1,000) ordinary shares respectively of the Company as al 30 June 2013.40,181},2n4 (2017; 43,180,244) cfdinary shares are held by family members of 
the chief executive of the Company. 

SHARE DEPOSIT MONEY 

The Board of Direclors 'oJ the Company in its meeting held on 13 December 2017 dDcid&d to initiate the prcceedings tor enlisting of the Company on the Pakistan 
Stock Exchange Limited. Hence, the Company issued the prospectus fcr Initial Public Cffer (IPO) of 36.687,000 ordinary shares of Rupees 10 esch at a floor price 
of Rupees 20 per share including share premium of Rupees 10 per share as on 13 June 2018. Before the close of the reporting pericd, 27,500,000 ordinary shares" 
were ottered and successfully subscribed through bcok building process by Institutional Investors and High Net Wcrtji Individuals (HMWI) al a strike price of Rupees 
21 per share against which the Company collected share deposit money of Rupees 410.198 million. As per regrMon 9(15) of Public Offering Regulations 2017, the 
bid money of bidders who have undertaken to subscribe Ihe unsubscribed retail portion shall remain blccked till the allotment of shares on pro-rala basis. Therefore. 
an amount of Rupees 63.601 million remained blocked as at the reporting date. Subseguenl to the reporting date, this amount has been refunded to the Inslitulional 
investors and High Net Worth Individuals (HNWI) after the successful allolment of shares to the shareholders. 

EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT BENEFIT 

The latest actuarial valuatira of the defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2018 was carried out using the projected unit credit method. Details of Ihe oKigaticn as 
per actuarial valualion are as follows: 

The amount racognized In the atalement of financial position Is as follows: 

Present value of defined benefit obligation (Noie 3.2) 

2017 
Rupees 

28,077,763 21,104,991 

Movement In the liability recognized in the statement of financial pbsitkm is as follows: 

Opening balance 
Net charge ior the year 
Actuarial lasses from changes in demographic assumptions 
Actuarial losses I (gains) from changes in financial assumptions 
Experience adjustments 
Closing balance 

21,(04,991 
3.839.924 

18.638 
(1,915,820) 
23,077,763 

18.003.302 
6.506,705 

325,474 
{14,026) 

(3,717.464) 
21,104,991 

The amount recognized in the sfatemeiit of profit or loss is as follows: 

Current service cost 
Interest cost on defined benefit 

The charge for the year has been allocated as follows: 

7.234,287 
1.635,637 
3,369,924 

4,886.408 
1 •620,297 
3.506,705 

Operating costs 
.Administrative and general expenses 
Selling and marketing expenses 

Remoasurements recognized in statement of comprehensive income: 

Actuarial losses from changes in demographic a-s-sumptions 
Actuarial losses I (gains) from changes in financial assumptions 
Experience adjustments 

4,309,681 
.1,327,963 
3,232.261) 
8,869.924 

18,638 
(1,915,820) 
fl.897.152) 

2,928.017 
1.235.274 
2,342.414 
6.503.705 

326,474 
(14.023) 

(3,717,464) 
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$.5 Principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows: 

Expcclcd ia',e of eligiKe sslar/ inaease in future 
Discount rale 

% per annum 
% per annum 

6,6 Mortality was assumed to be based on SlIC 2001-2005 ullima'e mcrtalily rates, set back one yea;. 

6.7 Hlstoricaf Intormallon 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

2016 
Rupees 

2014. 
Rupaes 

Experience adjuslmenl on defined benefit obligation for current and 
previous yoa; 

Actuarial tosses from changes in demographic assumptiens 
Actuarial losses / (gains} from changes io financial assumptions 

(1.915,820} (3.717.454) 
• 326,474 

18,663 (14,026) 
Presenl value ofdefned benefit obligation for current and previous year 23,077,763 21,104,991 
Eipcrience adjustment on cbllgalion (9.08%) (20.65%) 

(5,173,550) 

13,003,302 
(30.21%) 

658.354 

(619.700) 
17,139.941 

5.39% 

(1,323.756) 

12.229.636 
(13.93%) 

6.8 Estimated, ch arge (o slaternent of profit c? loss for th e year.ending 20 June 2019 will be Rupees 11.333,765. 

6.9 Sensitivity analysis for actuarial assumptions: 

The sensitivity cf the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions at reporting date: 

 Defined benefit obligation  
Changos in Increase in ' Decrease in 
assumption assumption assumption 

Bps Rupees Rupees 

Discount rale 

Future salary increase 

26,582.20? 

23,785,502 

29.785,502 

26,556,047 

The above sensiMy analyses are based on a change in an assurnptico while holding all other assurnptkms constant. In praclice, this is unlikely to occur, and 
changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit oblfgation to significant actuarial assumptions the 
same melhcd (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projeded unit credit method at the end of the repcrting period) has been applied. 
The methods and types of assumpiions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to Ihe previous period. 

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 8 years. 

LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE 

Future minimum lease payments 
Less: Un-amortized finance charge 
Present value of future minimum lease payments 
Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities 

2018 
Rupaes 

76,477.61)6 
(3,359.775) 
72,617.831 

(51.365,136) 
21,309,695 

2017 
Rupees 

35.477,325 
(2.335,146) 
33,142.183 

(21.995.156) 
11,157.027 

Minimum lease payments have been discounfed using implicit interest rate ranges from 9.10% to. 9.79% per annum. Rentals are payable in monthly inslalrnents. 
Registration cost, taxes and insurance coverage are borne by the Company. These are secured against the leased assets, specific hypolhccafon charge over 
leased assets, demand promisscry notes and SDCurity deposits o' Rupees 6,478,400. 

Minimum lease payments and their present values are regrouped as under: 

Not later than one year 
Later than one 

year but not later than five 
years 

-  (Rupees)  

Not falerthan 
one year 

Later than one 
year but not later 

than five years 

Future minimum lease payments 
Less: Un-annxfized finance charge 
Present value of future minimum lease payments 

52,996.496 
(1,688.360) 
51,398.135 

23,481.110 
(2.171.415) 
21.309.695 

23.492,07? 
(1.506,921) 
21,985,156 

11,985.252 
(828.225) 

11.157,027 
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Rupees Rupees 

9 TRADE ARD OTHER PAYA0LES 

Creditors 
Accrued liabclities 

Payable to assooieled company - interest free and in the normal course 
of business (Mote 9.1) 
Payable to ccmtractors 
Income tax deducted at source 

Workers' profit participalion (und payable {Note 9.2} 
Lease rentals payable 
Salaries payable to directors 

91,036,253 
15.124,591 

27,206,537 
1.566.065 

24,727,(160. 
1.067,313 

483,710 
161,197,94& 

54,548.783 
23,153,089 

7.640,512 

448,677 
899,229 

16,741.037 
3,320,777 

323,710 
107.275,814 

Payable to aseoclalerf company 

Payable to Bahera (Private) Limited 7.540,512 

Workers' profit participation fund payable 

Balance as on 01 July 
Add: Provision for the year (Note 24) 

Interest lor the year (Note 26) 
Balance as cd 30 June 

15.741,037 
6,139,43? 
1,646,536 

24,727,060 

10,856,802 
4.732,328 
1.151,907 

15,741,037 

The Company retains workers' profit participation fund lor its business operations till the date ci altooatico to worirers. Inferesl is paid at prescribed rale under the 
Companies Profit (Workers' Participalion) Act, 1S68 on funds utilized by the Company till the date ol allocation lo wwkers. 

Rupees Rupees 

SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

From banking companies - secured 

Running finances (Note 10.1 and 10.2) 127,647,806 46.459,812 

These finances are obtained from banking companies under mark-up arrangements and are secured against first pad p&sau charge over Ccmpany's present and 
future current assets and charge on fixed'assets of the company including charge on land of Bahera (Private) Limited, an associated company and personal 
guarantee ol choif execulive d the Company and corporate guarantee of Bahera (Private) limited. These (wrn part of total credit facility ol Rupees 230.000,000 
(2017: Rupees SO.KiO.OCO). 

10.2 ' The rale of mark up ki short term borrowings ranges from 8.14% to 3.92% (2017:8.11 % to 8.55%) per annum. 

I 



I 

Rupees Rupees 

11 CURRENT PORTION OF NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Curceni pariion of liabilities against assets subject to finance lease (Note 7J 
Current portion of long term financing {Note S) 

51.306,13& 
59.000 .GOO 

110,305.136 

21.965.156 

21.985.156 

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

Oonlingencies 

.1 Depuly Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) passed an order under sedions 122(t)! 122(5) / i?7 read with section 122(9) ol the Income Tax Ordinance, 2061 for 
ta* year 2013 and made addilions and disallowances of Rupees 111.322 million under various heads resulting in reduction ol tax losses of Ihe Company. Being 
aggrieved, the Company filed an appeal hefofc Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)] vrho deleted some of the additions made by DCIR, remanded 
hack some ot the additions and disallowances with favorable comments and confirmed an addilicn and levy of workers' welfare fund. The Company has now riled an 
appeal before Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) against the order of CIR(A) which is yet to bo heard. The management of (he Company, based on advice of 
the legal counsel, is oonfidenl of favorable outccmb of ils appeal, hence no provision against additions and disallowances of Rupees 86.451 million, disa'.lcwance of 
tax credit d Rupees 1.796 million and levy of workers' welfare fund of Rupees 0.484 million has been made in these financial statements. 

Depuly Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) and Assistant Commissioner Inland Revenue (ACIR) had rejected sates tax refunds of the Company amcunling Jo. 
Rupees 35.269 million for various tax periods based on their intorpretation of SRO 549(I)/2G08 dated 11 June 2006 and SRO 670ll)f2013 dated 16 July 2013. As a 
result, the Company filed an appeal before Commissioner inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)] againsl the aloresa>d rcjectiMs. During the year, CIR(A) has given the 
decision in favor of the Company for the sales (ax refunds amounting to Rupees 23.472 million. The rnaragernenl of the Company, based on advice ol the legal 
counsel, is confident of favorsble outccme of its appeal In connection wi!h the remaining amount, hence no piovisicn against the aforesaid rejections has been made 
in these financial statements. 

The Sindh High Court (The Court') in the case of 'Kasim Textile' in Hs order of 07 May 2613 has held that benefit o( cany forward ol minimum tax under section 113 
ot.the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 is only available it tax payable In a 1a< year is less then minimum tax paid. If in a tax year, no tax is payable by a company due 
to assessed losses, the company forgoes the right to carry forward minimum tax ps'd in that year. In the light of this order, the Ccmpany is ooi entitled to carry 
forward minimum tax of Rupees 27.638 million. However. Ihe management, based on advice of legal counsel, is of the view that the verdict has been challenged in • 
the Suprema Court end favorable final outcome is expected. 

On 10 November. 2017 the Competition Commission of Pakistan ('COP'} has initiated a formal enquiry under the provisions of the Compelilicn Ad, 2010 ('ihe Ad') 
cn complaint against (he Company by Pakistan Dairy Association ('Association*) tor adopting deceptive marketing practices in oonl/aventicn cf section to of Ihe Act. 
It has also been prayed by Associaliw to CCP to impose.a penalty of 16% of Ihe annual turnover ol Ihe Company or Rupees 75 mil'io'n, as CCP may deem 
appropriate. The Company has submitted a detail reply before the CCP through their advocates, rejecting the contents of filed compliant, and expects a favorable 
oulcome of the matter. Hence, no provisicn for penalty has been recognized in Iheso financial stalements. 

■ 12.2 Commitments 

j 12,2.1 Lelleis of credit other than lor capital expenditure of the Company arc of Rupees 11,233,268 (2017: Rupees 9.697.270). 

12.2.2 The Company has obtained vebicfes and machinery under Ijarah arrangements from AlBaraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited and Banklstarni Pakistan Limited tor a period 
^ of three years. The totel future monthly Ujrah payments under Ijarah arc as (oflows: 

2018 
Rupees Rupees 

Mcl later than one year 

Later than one year and not later than five years 

15,222,799 

1,380,373 
16,603,172 

I 
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1 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 

Rupees 

| 13.2 

CTp 

Depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows: 

1 

Operating costs {Note 21) 

Administrative and general expenses (Note 22) 

Selling and maiteting expenses (Note 23) 

25.697,316 

10,859,467 

2,327,028 

21,468,624 

9,116,386 
i.953,512 .. 

36,783,811 32,556,522 

1 
13.3 

l 

l 

Capital work-in-progress 

Building on freehold land 

Plant and machinery 
Advance to contractor for civil works 

Advances againsl plant and machinery 

144,008.358 

10,217,930 
37,000,000 

39,752,277 

- 

230,979,065 - 

^ 13.3.1 

■ 

Borrowings cost amounting to Rupees'5,047,559 (2017: Rupees Nil) has been capitalized during the year using capitalization rate 
ranged from 9.56 % to 9.82 % (2017: Nil) per annum. 

1 

1 U BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 

2018 

Rupees 

2017 

Rupees 

1 

Dairy livestock: 

Mature 

Immalure 

541,672,232 

141,978,138 

•361,402,800 
116,143,286 

| 683,650,370 477,546,086 
R 

1 

Non-current 

Current 

682.411,604 

1,238,766 

683,650,370 

467,476,120 

10,069,966 

477,546,086 

1 14-1 Reconciliation of carrying amount of dairy livestock: 

1 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 

Purchases during the year 

477.546,086 

160,211,123 

535.541,445 

1 

Fair value gain due to new births 

Gain arising from changes in fair value less costs to 
sell atlributable to physical and price changes 

12,215.620 

193.045.257 

95,545,331 

571.781 

1 

| 

Decrease-due to deaths (Note 24) 

Decrease due to sales 

205.260.377 

(49,312,680) 

(110,055,036) 

96.117,112 

(57,664:897) 

(96.447,574) 

R 

■ 

Carrying amount at the end of the year, which approximates the fair value 
less costs to sell 683,650,370 477,546,086 

B 14.2 

i 

i 

As at 30 June 2018, the Company held 1,348 (2017: 1,045) mature assets able to produce milk and 789 (2017: 369) immalure 
assets that are being raised to produce milk in the future. During the year, the Company produced approximately 7,815,366 (2017:: v 

8,105,407) gross litres of milk from these biological assets. As at 30 June 2018, the Company also held 50 (2017: 269) immature 
male calves. 



The valuation ot dairy livestock as at 30 June 2016, has been carried out by independent valuers. In this regard, the valuers 
examined the physical condition of the livestock, assessed the key assumptions and estimates and relied on the representations 
made by the Company as at 30 June 2018. Further, in the absence of an active market of the Company's dairy livestock in Pakistan, 
market and replacement values of similar livestock from active markets in Europe and Australia, have been used as basis ot 
valuation by the independent valuers. The cost of transportation to Pakistan is also considered. 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET 

The net deferred income'tax asset originated due to timing differences relating to: 

Taxable temporary differences; 

Accelerated lax depreciation (60.130,306) (67,277,236) 

Assets subject to finance lease (578,521) - 
(60,808,827) (67,277,236). 

Deductible temporary differences; 

Provisto n for workers' profit participatio n fu nd | 6,676,306 - 

Turnover lax earned foPA'ard 27,685,855 - 

Available lax losses 117.879,189 
^ r-A Aid ATA 

128,594,749 
A AA TAi *7i A 

Net deferred income tax asset recognized in the financial statements 91.432.523 61,317,513 

The Company has an aggregate amount ot recognized deferred tax asset ot Rupees 91,432,523 which represents management's 
best estimate ot the probable benefits expected to be realized in future years in the form of reduced tax liability as the Company 
would be able to set off the profits earned in those yeara against losses carried forward, The Company has prepared live years 
financial projections for future taxable profits, which have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, to assess the 
recoverability of deferred tax assets. The projections involve certain key management assumptions underlying the estimation of 
future taxable profits. The determination of future taxable profits is most sensitive to certain key assumptions such as recent capital 
injections, growth of herd, increase in milk yield, etc. Any significant changes in such assumptions may have an.effect on the 
recoverability of deferred lax asset. Management believes that it is probable that the Company will be able to achieve the profits and, 
consequently, the deferred tax asset will be fully realized in future. 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 

Rupees 

INVENTORIES 

Forage (Note 16.1) 

Packing materials 
Flavours {Note 16.2) 

Raw rnilk 

Finished / manufactured goods 

48,145.358 

25,376.801 
6,580,333 

1.194,830 
2,936,442 

84,734.314 

55,507,068 

15,854,287 
12,105.157 

104,160 

3,697.797 
87,259,489 

16.1 These include stock of Rupees Nil (2017: Rupees 1.985,224) stored with Agro Tractors (Private) Limited - associated company. 

16.2 These include stock with third party amounting to Rupees 1,965,926 (2017: Rupees 7,627,037). 

{ 16.3 The aggregale amount of write-down of inventories to net realizable value recognized as arr expense during.the year was Rupees 
128,786 (2017: Rupees Nil). 
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i ► 

TRADE DEBTS 

Considered good: 

1 

| 

As at 30 June 2018, trade debts due from other than-related parties of Rupees 74,527,057 {2017: Rupees 53,948,058) were past 
due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers from whom there is no recent history of default. The 
ageing analysis of these trade debts is as follows: 

m 

| 

2013 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

<■ 

g 

f»3 

Upto 1 month 

1 to 6 months 

More than 8 months 

51,214,459 
14,397,803 

8,914,795 

74,527,057 

52,025,453 

1,922.605 

53,948.058 

V 18 

8 

SHORT TERM ADVANCES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Considered good: 

9 

1 

1 

m 

Advances to suppliers {Note 18.1 and 18.2) 
Advances to employees against salary (Note 18.3} 

Advances to staft for expenses 

Advances against letters of credit 
Common facilities cost recoverable (Note 16.4 and 18.5) 

Receivable against sale of vehicle 

62,855,408 

2,001,931 
3,636,897 

1,242,708 
6,000,000 

75,736,942 

3,524,270 • 

2,591,662 

354,583 
7,361,506 

21,421,103 
35,273,124 

' 18.1 the maximum aggregate amount receivable from related party at the end of any month during the year was as follows; 

i 
Bahera (Private) Limited 21,095,634 - 

| 18.2 This represents advance made to Bahera {Private} Limited - associated company in 
neither past due nor impaired. 

the ordinary course of business. This amount is 

■ 18.3 Break up of advances to employees against salary is as follows: 

1 

i 

Executives 

Other employees 2.001,931 

2,001,931 

327,516 

2,264.146 

2,591,662 

I " 

■ 

This represents amount due from Bahera (Private) Limited • associated company in the ordinary course of business. The age 
analysis is as follows: 

2018 2017 

Rupees Rupees 

■ 

I 

« 

Upto 1 month 

1 to 6 months 

More than 6 months 

1,000,000. 

4,000,000 

5.000.000 

- 

1 
18.5 The maximum aggregate amount receivable from related party at the end of any month during the year was as follows: 

1 

1 

Bahera (Private) Limited 6,060.000 
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1 2018 2017 

K Rupees Rupees 
19 

M2 
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

1 Cash in hand 4.099,532 56,966,795 
Cash with banks: 

1 Current accounts (Note 19,1) 460.766.855 8,386.369 
Saving accounts (Note 19.2) 49,064 38,139 

1 
464.915.451 65,391.323 

19.1 These include an amount of Rupees 419.1S9 million received as share deposit money raised through book building process as part 
ot total Rupees 733.340 million to be received through Initial Public Offer and to enlist the shares of the Company on Pakistan Stock . 

| Exchange, as fully explained in Note 1,2 and 5 to these financial statements. This amount was kept in separate bank account in 
order to comply with the requirements of Section 69 of the Companies Act, 2017 and was made available to the .Company for 

B 
utilization upon approval of Company's application for formal listing and quotation of shares on Pakistan Stock Exchange on 23 July 

1 
2018. 

19,2 
ffi 

Profit on balances in saving accounts ranges from 3.75% to 4.50% (2017; 3% to 3.75%) per annum. 

1 2018 2017 

m 
Rupees Rupees 

1 20 SALES 

i 
Raw milk 6.019,035 51.926:257' 

R Finished / manufactured goods 1,256,176,699 932,209,722 

K? 
1,262,195,734 984,135,979 

i Less: Sales tax 21,510,765 19,902,579 
Discount 36.231,600 330.737 

K 
1,204.453,369 963,902,663 . 

n 21 OPERATING COSTS 

1 Raw milk consumed (Note 21.1) 643,855,805 551.991,649 
■ Forage consumed 298.404,098 257,635.676 

SB 
Packing materials consumed 137.496,302 134,145,624 

1 
Stores consumed 1,913,428 - 

m Salaries, wages and other benefits (Note 21.2) 73.641,644 64,013,213 

9 Oil"and lubricants 67.051,832 68.500.633 

i Utilities 17,154.968 12,028,844 
• 

Insurance 238,982 369,116 

1 
Repair and maintenance 13,105,944 14,499,930 

i Artificial insemination supplies consumed 4,072,971 4.250,080 

Dairy livestock med ication cons u med 16,074,536 7:759,536 

fi 
Dairy supplies consumed 30.448.031 22,072,393 

1 Chemicals consumed 876,331 659,665- 

Vehicles' tunning 3,617,002 2,931,130 

1 Depreciation (Note 13^2) 25,597,316 21.488.624 
B Miscellaneous 24,661.686 11,611.518 " 

1,358,212.926 1:173.978.531 

1 
Finished / manufactured goods 

B Opening inventory 3.697.797 1,810,634 

■i Closing inventory (2.936,442) (3,697,797) 

1 
761.355 (1,887,163) 

m 

i 

1,358i974,281 1,172.091.368 



1 

1 2018 2017 

Rupees Rupees 

1 21.1 Raw milk consumed 

i 
Inventory at the beginning of the year 104,160 '88,200 

Milk purchased 145,261,848 49.410,375 

Gain arising on initial recognition of milk at fair value less costs to sell at the 

1 
time of milking 499,684,677 502,597.234 

m 
Inventor/ at the end of the year {1,194.880) (104,160) 

1 
— 

643,855.805 551,991.649 

9 
21.2 Salaries, wages and other benefits include an amount of Rupees 4.309,681 {2017: Rupees 2,928,017) in respect of employees' 

1 

retirement benefit. 

B 
2018 2017 

1 

Rupees Rupees 

22 
■ 

ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES 

1 Salaries and olher benelils (Note 22.1) 31,740,681 35,833,533 

EM 
Travelling and conveyance 1,681,126 1,058,688 

1 Communication 2.187,910 2,014.598 
■ Printing and stalionery 2,027,717 2,221,707 

« Ujrah payments 25.495,772 25.972,695 

Utilities 4,061,477 3,753,310 

Vehicles' running 6,115,638 5i 129,916 

V .Postage and courier 148,134 120.750 

1 Fee and subscription 3.196,784 1,157.461 

News papers and periodicals 11,608 39,628 

1 Insurance 1,133,994 916,027 

1 Entertainment 1,060,449 629,243 

Office rent 8,700,000 1,600,000 

1 Legal and professional 2,679,423 1,229,442 

8 Auditors' remuneration (Note 22.2) 1,725,000 800,000 

Depreciation (Note 13.2) 10,859.467 9,116.386 

1 Miscellaneous '    1.299,434 1,370.939 

I — 104,144.814 92,964.323 

22.1 Salaries and other benefits include an amount of Rupees 1,327,983 (2017: Rupees 1,236,274) n respect of employees' retirement 
m benefit. 

| 2013 2017 
Ml 

Rupees Rupees 

■ 22.2 

8 

Auditors' remuneration 

Audit fee 1,100,000 790.000 

H Half yearly review fee 262.500 - 

1 Interim audit fee 262.500 - 

Reimbursable expenses _ 100,000 10,000 

i 

i 

1,725,000 800.000 



i 

fj 2018 2017 

1 Rupees Rupees 

1 23 
SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES 

Salaries and other benefits (Note 23.1) 55,157.517 39,004,746 

1 Advertisement - 33,040 
B Travelling 1.317.984 1,526.646 

Sales promotion expenses 13.862,336 8,621,398 

1 
Vehicles' running 96.809,130 75.072.372 

Container rent 6.103,240 5,974.162 

a Chillers' rent 918,534 640,204 

1 
Entertainment 795,773 886.567 

CO 
Depreciation (Note 13.2) 2,327.026 1,953,512 

m Miscellaneous 3,156,348 2,435,935 

1 180.447.890 136,150.582 

■ 23.1 Salaries and other benefits include an amount of Rupees 3,232.260 (2016: Rupees 2,410,722) in respect of employees' retirement 

1 benefit. 

1 2018 2017 
■ Rupees Rupees 

1 24 

OTHER EXPENSES 

1 
Loss due to death of dairy livestock (Note 14.1) 49,312,680 57.664,897 

■ Loss on sale of dairy livestock - net 73,266,314 7,565.735 

I Workers' profit participation fund (Note 9.2) 6,139,437 4,732.326 

B 

126,718.481 69,932,960 

1 
25 

m 
OTHER INCOME 

1 Income from financial assets 

1 
Profit on bank deposits 13,071 277,219 

1 
Income from non-financial asset 

i Sale of scrap 4,769,536 1,315,243 

B| Gain on sate of operating fixed assets (Note 13.1.2} 666,473 233,146 

1 Common facilities cost charged 12.000,000 - 
■ 

Credit balances written back 10,359,900 - 

|| Amortization of deterred income on sale and lease back 4,838,382 967,676 

1 
32.647.367 2.793,284 

| 26 FINANCE COST 

H 
Mark-up on short term borrowings 4.079,004 3.119,006 

| Mark-up on long term musharika 796,100 " 

1 Interest on workers' profit participation fund (Note 9.2) 1,646,536 1,151,907 

Bank and other charges 663.257 883,343 

| Mark-up on lease liabilities 1.796,792 324.474 

1 9.206,689 5.478.730 

1 
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i 2018 2017 

8 Rupees Rupees 

27 TAXATION 

I For the year: 
luJ 

- Current tax {Note 27.2) 12.258.831 8.099.393 

■ - Deferred lax (30,684,156) (30.542.282) 

1 Prior year: 
- Current tax •1,297,101 (221,042) 

8 
  {17,128,224). (22.663,931) 

■ 2r.i The Company computes lax based on the generally accepted interpretations of Itie tax. laws to ensure that the sufficient provision for 

1 
ihe purposes of taxation is available which can be analysed as follows: 

1 2017 2016 2015 

1 
Rupees Rupees Rupees 

1 Provision for taxation 8,099.393 2,960,972 6.245.094 

1 

Tax assessed 7,210.574 2,739.793 3,060.584 

■ 27.2 Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit: 

1 
Accounting profit before taxation 

= 
160.552,135 88,762,330 

■ 
Applicable lax rale _ 30% 31% 

1 Tax on accounling profit 48,165,641 27,516.322 

Tax effect of change in prior years' tax 1.297.101 (221,042) 

1 
Tax effect of tax credits (4,038,094) (2,441,605) 

1 Tax effect of deferred income tax (30,684,156) (30,542,282) 

Tax effect of minimum tax (19,285,567) (16.975.324) 

1 
~ (4,545.075) (22,683.931) 

6*a 2018 2017 

1 28 EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED 

i 
There is no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share which is based on: 

l Profit after taxalion attributable to ordinary shareholders Rupees __ 177,630,359 111,426,261 

1 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Number ' _ 110,000,000 110,000,000 

■ 
Earnings per share Rupees 1.62 1.01 

1 29 Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities 

i 
Assets subject 

Long term tojinance Short term Total 

m 

^ k »-BT •■II 1 1 W 
financing |ease borrowings 

8 
Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees 

Balance as at 01 July 2017 33,142,183 46,459,812 79,601,995 

1 Financing / borrowings obtained 239,207,375' 661,579.143 900,786,516 
m 

Repayment of financing / borrowings - (580.491.149) (580,491.149) 

m Acquisitions - finance leases 66.615.024 - 66,615.024 

I Other change - Non-cash movement {5,850,000) - (5.850.000} 

Repayment of lease liabilities (21,289,376) - (21,289.376) 

1 

Balance as at 30 June 2018 239,207,375 72.617,831 127.547,806 439,373,012 



EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

The Board of Direc(or$ of the Company has proposed a cash dividend for the year ended 30 June 2018 of Rupees til.i  
per share (2017: Rupees Nil) at their meeting held on J ] QQ]" 2{)-3 However, this event has been considered as non- 
adjusting events under IAS 10 'Events after the Reporting Period' and have not teen recognized in these financial statements.- 

REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES 

The aggregate amount charged in these financial statements for remuneration to chief executive, directors and executives of the 
Company is as follows: 

Chief executive Directors 

2018 2017 2018 2017" 

■Rupees 

Executives 

2018 2017 

Managerial remuneration 3:000,000 3,000,000 4.134,000 25,325,021 21,533,800 

Number of persons 1 1-1 10 8 

The Company has.also provided fully maintained vehicle and mobile phone facility to the chief executive and certain executives. 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company carries out transactions with related parlies in the normal course of business. Detail ot transactions and balances with 
related parties, other.than those which have been specifically disclosed elsewhere in these tinancial statements are as follows: 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

Associated company 
Purchase of goods 

Common facilities cost charged 

7.142,446 10.101.673 

12,000,000 

Following are the related parties with whom the Company had entered into transaction or have arrangement I agreement in place. 

Name of company Basis of relationship 

Transactions entered or 
agreements and / or Percentage ot 

arrangements in place during Shareholding 
the financial year 

Bahera (Private) Limited 

United Bank Limited 

Eco Pak Limited 

The Kidney Center 

City Schools (Private) Limited 

Educational System (Private) Limited 

Smart Education System (Private) Limited 

The Smart School (Private) Limited 
City Asia Pacific Institute of Information 
Technology (Private) Limited 

Engen (Private) Limited 

City Educational Sen/ices (Private) Limited 

Premier Realities (Private) Limited 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common trusteeship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship- 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 



Name of company Basis of relationship 

Transactions entered or 
agreements and / or 

arrangements in place during 
the financial year 

Percentage of 
Shareholding 

Remington Realities (Private} Limited 

Pgkgen Power Limited 

Lalpir Power Limited 

City Agro (Private) Limited 

Hayat Khan (Private) Limited 

Pakistan Educational Council 

Livestock & Dairy Development Board 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common directorship 

Common trusteeship 

Common trusteeship 

Detail of compensation to key management personnel comprising of chief executive officer, directors and executives is disclosed in 
note 31. 

33 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

Number of employees as on 30 June (Mote 33.1) 

Average number of employees during the year 

These include 172 (2017:124) number of dairy farm and plant employees. 

PLANT CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION 

Pasteurized milk 

-Total capacity 

-Actual production 

ill ion litres 

ill ion litres 

Yogurt 

-Total capacity 

-Actual production 

Million litres 

Million litres 

-Total capacity 

-Actual production 

Million litres 

Million litres 

Chunky yogurt 

-Total capacity 

-Actual production 

Million litres 

Million litres 

Smoothie 

-Total capacity 

-Actual production 

Million litres 

Million litres 

Under utilization of available capacity is mainly due to limited availability of raw milk. 



35- RECOGNIZED FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

11) Fair value hierarchy 

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are not measured at lair value if the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value. Due 
to short term nature, carrying amounts ot certain finandai assets and financial liabilities are considered to be the same as their fair value. For the 
majorit/ of the non-current receivables, the fair values are also not significantly different to their carrying amounfs. Judgements and estimates are 
made in determining the fair, values ot the financial instruments that ate recognised and measured at fair value in these financial statements. To 
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, Ihe Company classify its financial instruments into the following 
three levels. However, as at the reporting date, the Company has no such type ot financial instruments which are required to be grouped into these 
levels. These levels are explained "as under 

Level 1: The fair value of financial instalments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, trading and available-for-sa!e securities) is 
based on quoted market prices at the end of Ihe reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the • 
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. 

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (tor example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using 
valuation techniques which maximise the use ot observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-speciric estimates. If all significant 
inputs required to fair value an instrument are obsenrable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

Level 3; If one or mote of the srgnificanl inputs is not based on cbsen^able market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for 
unlisted equity securiliBS. 

36. RECOGNIZED FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(i) Fair value hierarchy 

Judgements and estimates are made for non-financial assets that are recognized and measured at fair value tn these financial statements. To provide 
an indication about Ihe reliability of Ihe inputs used In determining fair value, the Company has classified its non-fmancia! assets into the fcilawing 
three levels. 

At 30 June 2013 level 1 Level 2 Level 3 T- 

Biological assets 683,650,370 

Total non-financial assets 683,650,370 

At 30 June 2017 Leve 3 Leve 1 Leve 2 
— Rupees 

Biological assets 

Total non-financial assets 

477,546,086 

477,546,086 

The Company's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers oui ot fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period. 

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 tor recurring fair value measurements during the year. Further, there was no transfer in and out ot 
level 3 measurements. 

(ii) Valuation techniques used to determine level 2 fair values 

The fair value of these assets is determined by independent .valuers. Fair value of biological assets has been determined using a replacement cost 
approach, whereby, current cost of similar dairy cattle in the international market has been adjusted for transportation costs to arrive at fair value. 

Valuation processes 

The Company engages external, independent valuers to determine the fair value ot Ihe Company's biological assets at the end of every year. As at 30 
June 2018, the fair value of Ihe biological assets was determined by NVs Atlas Exports Pty Limited, M/s Sadruddin Associate (Private) Limited and Mfe 
Andersen Consulting (Private) Limited. 

Changes in fair values are analysed between Ihe chief financial officer and the valuers." As part of this discussion the team presents a report that 
explains the reason for the fair value movements. 
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

37.1 Financial risk factors 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of fmanctai risks: market risk {including currency risk, oltor price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management picgramrne focuses on the unpredictabiliiy of financial markets and seaks to minimize 
potential adverse etf&sts on the Company's finandal pen'ormance. 

Risk management is carried out by the Company's finance department under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board provides 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covehng spedtic areas such as currency risk, other price risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
liquidity risk and investment of excess liquidity. 

{a) Market risk 

{i) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk thai the fair value or future cash flows of a financial Instrumsnt will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Currency risk arises mainly from future ccmrnetdal transactions or receivables and payables thai exist due to transactions in foreign 
currencies. 

The Company is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk at any reporting dale as it has no receivables or payables in foreign 

Other price risk 

Other price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash (lows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising ftorn interesl rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is not exposed to 
equity price risk as it does no! have any investment in equity securities. 

The Company is exposed to financial risk arising from changes in milk prices. The Company does not anticipate that milk prices will decline 
.significently in-the foreseeable future and, therefcre. has not entered into derivative or other.contracts to manage the risk of decline in milk 
prices: The Company reviews its outlook for milk prices regulady in considering the need for active financial risk management. 

Interest rale risk 

This represents the risk that ihe fair value or future cash flows of a iinancial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. 

The Company's interest tale risk arises from short term borrowings, long tem financing, finance lease liabilities and bank balances in saving 
accounls. Financial instruments at variable rates expose the Company to cash flow.interest rale risk. Financial instruments at fixed rate 
expose the Company to fair value interest rats risk. 

Al the reporting date, Ibe interest rate profile of the Company's interest bearing financial instruments was: 

2018 
Rupees 

2017 
Rupees 

Fixed rate instruments 

Floating rale instruments 

Financial assets 

Bank balances - saving accounts 

Financial liabilities 

long tenn financing 
Short term boirowings 
Liabilities against assets subjeci to finance lease 

239,207,375 
127,547,806 
72.617,631 

45,459.812 
33,142,163 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

The Company does not acraunt for any fixed rale financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit a less. Therefore, a change in 
interest rate at the reporting date would not affect profit ci loss of the Company. 

I 



Cash nowscnsilivity analysis for variable rate inBtrumenls 

If interest rates at the year end date, fluctuates by 1% higher / low with all other variables held constant, profit after laKation for the year 
would have been Rupees 4,173,576 (2017: Rupees 755,857) lower / higher, mainly as a result ot higher I lower interest expense I income on 
tloa'ing ratc financial inslroments. This analysis is prepared assuming the amounts cf financial instruments outstanding at repoitirig dates 
were cotstanding for the whole year. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk represents the risk that one party to a financial insfmmenl will cause a tinancial loss tci the other party by failing to discharge en 
obliggticfi. The carrying amount of finandal assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was as follows: 

Advances and other receivables 
Deposits 
Trade deb's 
Bank balances 

201S 
Rupees 

8,001,931 
16,537,154 
74,527,057 

460,815,919 
559,932,101 

.2017 
Rupees 

24.012.765 
20.656.294 
53,948,058 
8.424.528 

107.041.645 

The credit quality ot financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external crodit ratings (if available) or to 
historicat informaTion about counterparty default rate: 

Short term 
Rating 

Long term .Rupees 

A1+ AAA PACRA 13.540,897 3.370,878 
A1 + AM PACRA 422,303,504 t, 233,737 
A-2 A-' JCR-VIS 6.321.524 237,248 
A1 A PACRA '134.366 45,836 

A-1- AA+ JCR-VIS 420 - 
At A PACRA. 6,323,995' 653,330 
A-1 M- JCR-VIS 7,042,021 - 
A1+- AAA PACRA 2,800 
Al A+ .PACRA 96,392 1,306,294 

460.815,919 6.847,323 

Allied Bank Limited 
MC0 Bank Limited 
Silk Bank Limited 
MBataKa Bank (Pakistan) limited 
Meezan Bank Limited 
MCB Islamic Bank limited 
Dubai islamic Bank Pakistan Limited 
National Bank of Pakistan 
Bank Isl ami Pakistan Limited 

The Company's exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to trade debts is disctosed in Note 17. 

Due to the Company's long standing business relationships with these ccunterparlics and after giving due consideration to their strong financial 
standing, the management does not expect non-peffcrrnance by these counter parties on their obligations to the Company. Accordingly, the credit risk 
is minimal. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liguidily risk is Ihe risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting chligations associated with financial liabilities. 

The Company manages liguidily risk by mainlaining sullicient cash and the availabilily c; funding through an atfsquate amount of committed credit 
facilities. Al 30 June 2018, the Company had Rupees 102,452,194 (2017: Rupees 3,540,188) available short term borrowing limits frcm financial 
institutions and Rupees 44,916,451 (2017: Rupees 65,391.323) cash and bank balances. The management believes Ihe liquidity risk to be low. 
Following ate the contractual mafuiilies of financial liabilities,-including inleresl payments. The amount disclosed in the table are undisccunted cash 
Hows:. 

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities as al 30 June 2018 

Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

Long term financing 
Trade and oiher payables 
Short term borrowings 
Accrued mark-up 
Liabi lilies againsl assets subject to 
finance lease 

Carrying 
amount 

239,207,375 
134.912.804 
127,547,806 

4.927,831 

_7_2.617,831 

"5^,213,647 

Contractual 
cash flows 

293,429,936 
134.912.804 
133,235,439 

4,927,831 

76.477.606 
645,964,615 

6 months or 
less 

69,761.741 
134,912,804 
133,236,438 

4,927,831 

S.473,251 
351,312,065 

  More than 2 
6-12 months 

pees) ——— 

1-Z year years 

8,672,520 

44,523,245 
63,195,765 

59,020,509 158,975,166 

10,252,430 13,226.680 
69,272,939 172,203,846 



Conltactual maturilies otfiaancial lia'Dililies as at 30 June 201?: 

Non-derivalive financtai liabilities: 

Carrying Contractual $ months or 
amount cash flows less 

6-12 months 

(Rupees)   

1-2 year 
More than 2 

years 

Trade and other payahles 
Short tenn borrowings 
Accrued mark-up 
Liafcl lilies agalnsl assets subject to 
finance lease 

89.635.548 
46,459,812 

984,707 

33,142,183 
170.222.250 

59,635,546 
48.343.757 

984,707 

35,477,329 
174,441,341 

89.635.548 
48.343,757 

984,707 

11,746.039 
150,710,051 

11,746.039 
11.745,039. 

11,985.252 
11,905,262 

The coniraotual cash flows relating to the above flnancisl lia'oitities have been determined on (he basis of interest rates / matk-up rates effective es el 
30 June. The rates of interest / mark up have been disclosed in note 7.8 and 10 to these financial sfatemenls. 

| Loans and receivables 
201S 2017 

Rupees Rupees 
37.2 Financial Instruments by categories 

Assets as per statement of financial position 

Advances and other receivables 8,001,931 . 24,012,730 
Deposils 16,587,194 20,656,294 
Trade debls 74,527,057 53,948.058 
Cash and bank balances 464.915,401 65.391.323 

564.031,633 

24,012,730 
20,656,294 
53,948.058 
65,391,323 

164.008.440 

Financial liabilities at amortized 
 cost  

2016 2017 
Rupees Rupees 

Liabilitios as per statement of financial position 

Long term financing 
Accrued mark-up 
Short term borrowings 
Trade and other payebles 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 

37.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

239,207,375 
4,927,831 

127,547,806 
134,512,804 
131.617,831 
399,006,272 

984.707 
46,459,812 
89,635.548. 
33.'i42.183 

170,222.250 

As on the reporting date, recognized fihencial inslnimenls are not Subject to offsetting as Ihere are no enforceable master neliing arrangements and 
similar agreements. 

27.4 Capital risk management 

The Company's objectives when managing capital are 10 safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits tor other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capita' structure to reduce the ccsl o: capital. In order lo maintain or 
adjusl Ihe capital structure, the Ccmpany may edjusi the amount of dividends paid to sharehctders, issue new shares oi sell asselS lo reduce debt. 
Consistent with others in the industry and the requiremenls of the lenders, the Company monitors the capital structure on Ihe basis of gearing ratio. 
This ratio is calculated as borrowings divided by total capital employed. Borrowings represent short term borrowings obtained by the Company as 
referred to in note 10, long term musharika as referr&d to in note 8 and liabilities agalnsl assets subject to finance lease as referred to in note 7. Total 
capital employed includes 'total equity' as shown in the stalernent of financial position plus 'borrcwings'. 

Borrowings 
Total equity 
Total capital employed 

Gearing ratio 

Rupees 
Rupees 
Rupses 

Percentage 

439,373,012 79,691,995 
1.431,653,877 1,252.655.512 

"1.871.036,eS§ 1j332.257.607 

The increase in the gearing ratio resulted primarily from increase in borrowings of (he Company. 



33 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

These finaricial statements has been prepared on the basis ot single leportabte segment. All of the sates ot the Company relates to customers in Pakistan. 
Wl non-current assets of the Company as a! reporting date were located in Pakistan. 

39 DATE OF APPROVAL 

These linanciat statements were approved on i 

40 CORRESPONDING FIGURES 

Corresponding figures have been regr/angerf a reclassified. v/nerever necessary, for the purpose of coiriparison. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
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FORM 34 

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017 

(Section 227(2)(f) 

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING 
       

CUIN (Incorporation Number)           
       

Name of the Company 
AT -TAHUR 
LIMITED        

       

Pattern of holding of the shares held by the shareholders as at  30-06-2018 

              

     ------Shareholdings------ 

No. of Shareholders   From   To   Total Shares Held 

       

4  1  100  4 

1  101  500  500 

1  501  1,000  501 

1  4,240,001  4,245,000  4,240,980 

1  38,935,001  38,940,000  38,939,264 

1  66,815,001  66,820,000  66,818,751 
       

9           110,000,000 

       

Categories of shareholders      

    Share held  Percentage 

Directors, Chief Executive Ofcers,  105,759,020  96.1446% 

and their spouse and minor children     

Associated Companies,   0  0.0000% 

undertakings and related      

parties.        

NIT and ICP    0  0.0000% 

Banks Development       

Financial Institutions, Non   0  0.0000% 

Banking Financial Institutions.     

Insurance Companies   0  0.0000% 

Modarabas and Mutual      

      Funds    0  0.0000% 

Share holders holding 10%

0059952

      

or more    105,758,015  96.1437% 

General Public       

a. Local    

4,240,980

  

3.8554%

 

b. Foreign    0  0.0000% 

Others (to be specied)   0  0 

  

   

0  0.0000% 

Sponsors 
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At-Tahur Limited 

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING 
As on June 30, 2018 

    

    

  
 

Sr. No. Name No. of Shares 
Held

Percentage 

   

                                      
Associated Companies, Undertakings and Related Parties (Name Wise 
Detail): - -    

    

                                      Mutual Funds (Name Wise Detail) - -    

    

Directors and their Spouse and Minor Children (Name Wise Detail):     

1 MR. RASIKH ELAHI     66,818,751  60.7443 

2 MR. SHABBI ZAHID ALI                 500  0.0005 

3 MR. AURANGZEB FIROZ                501  0.0005 

4 SHEIKH IJAZ NISAR                   1  0.0000 

5 MR. MUHAMMAD IJAZ HUSSAIN AWAN                    1  0.0000 

6 MR. AMAR ZAFAR KHAN                   1  0.0000 

7 MR. MUHAMMAD AFZAL                    1  0.0000 

8 MRS. ZAHRA ALI ELAHI W/O RASHIKH ELAHI      38,939,264  35.3993 

    

                                      Executives: - -    

    

Public Sector Companies & Corporations:                  -                    -    

    

Banks, Development Finance Institutions, Non Banking Finance                  -                    -    

Companies, Insurance Companies, Takaful, Modarabas and Pension Funds:  

    

General Public       0           0  

      110,000,000                100  

    
SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING FIVE PERCENT OR MORE VOTING INTEREST IN THE 
COMPANY (NAME WISE DETAIL)  

    

1 MR. RASIKH ELAHI     66,818,751  60.7443 

2 MRS. ZAHRA ALI ELAHI W/O RASHIKH ELAHI      38,939,264  35.3993 

    
 All trades in the shares of the company, carried out by its Directors, Executives and their spouses 

and minor children: 

   

   

SHARES

S.No NAME SALE PURCHASE 

1 Mr. Rasikh Elahi 5 3,002,000 

 
  

Other-Sponsors 4,240,980 3.8554 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 11th Annual General Meeting of the shareholders (1st after listing on PSX) of At

Tahur Limited will be held on Saturday, October 27, 2018 at 11:30 a.m. at the Registered Ofce, 182

-

-Abu Bakar 

Block, New Garden Town, Lahore to transact the following business: 

 

ORDINARY BUSINESS 

 

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Accounts together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ reports thereon for the 
year ended June 30, 2018. 
 

2. To appoint auditors of the Company and x their remuneration. The present auditor M/s Riaz Ahmad & Company, 
Chartered Accountants retires and offers themselves for re-appointment. 
 

SPECIAL BUSINESS 

 

3. To consider dissemination of annual audited accounts through CD or DVD or USB instead of transmitting the same in the 

form of hard copy. However, for convenience of shareholders Standard Request Form will be uploaded on Company’s website 

for those who opt to receive Annual Audited Accounts at their registered address of through email: 

 

“Resolved that dissemination of information regarding Annual Audited Accounts to the Shareholders in soft form i.e. CD or 

DVD or USB as notify by Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan vide its SRO 470(I)/2016 dated May 31, 2016 be and 

is hereby approved. 

 
4. To transact any other business with the permission of the Chair. 
 

        By Order of the Board 

Lahore                                                                    

October 06, 2018                                                              Company Secretary 

 

BOOK CLOSURE: 

The Members’ Register will remain closed from October 20, 2018 to October 27, 2018 (both day inclusive). 

 

NOTES: 

1. Transfer received in order at the Registered Ofce by the close of business hours on Friday, October 19, 2018 will 
be treated in time. 
 

2. A member eligible to attend and vote at this Meeting may appoint another member as his/her proxy to attend and 
vote instead of him/her.  
 

3. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority under which it is signed or a 
notarially attested copy of the power of attorney must be received by the Company at the Registered Ofce not later than 48 
hours before the time for holding the Meeting. 
 

4. CDC account holders will further have to follow the under mentioned guidelines as laid down by Securities & 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan:  
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For Attending the Meeting: 

 

i. In case of individuals, the account holder or sub -account holder and whose registration details are uploaded as per the Regulations, 
shall authenticate his/her identity by showing his/her original National Identity Card (NIC) or passport at the time of attending 
the meeting. 

ii.  In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution/power of attorney with specimen signature of the nominee shall be 
produced (unless it has been provided earlier) at the time of meeting. 
 

For Appointing Proxies:  

 

i. In case of individuals, the account holder or sub-account holder and whose registration details are uploaded as per the Regulations, 
shall submit the proxy form as per above requirement 

ii.  Attested copies of valid CNIC or the passport of benecial owners and the proxy shall be furnished with the proxy form. 
iii.  The proxy shall produce his/her original valid CNIC or original passport at the time of the meeting. 
iv. In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution/power of attorney with specimen signature shall be produced (unless 

it has been provided earlier) at the time of meeting. 
 

Through Video conference: 
 
Shareholders individually or collectively holding 10.00% or more shareholding can provide their consent to participate in the 
meeting through video conference at least seven days prior to date of the meeting. Considering the geographical dispersal of the 
shareholder, the Company shall arrange video conference facility subject to the availability of such facility in that city. The 
Company will intimate members regarding venue of the video -link facility at least ve days before the date of the general meeting 
along with complete information necessary to enable them to access the facility. 
 
In this regard, shareholders are requested to ll the following form and submit to the Registered Ofce of the Company seven 
days before the date of holding of the general meeting: 
 
I/We …………….. of  ……………….being a member of At-Tahur Limited, holder of ……………………. Ordinary shares as 
per Registered Folio number/CDC A/c # ……………………………………………… hereby opt for video conference facility 
at …………………………….……………………………………… 
 
 
__________________ 
Signature of Member 

 

Circulation of Accounts via Email 

 

As per SRO 787 (I)/2014 the transmission of Annual Financial Statements along with Notice to members through email shall 

considered compliance with relevant requirements of Companies Act. 

 

In this regard, shareholders are requested to ll the following form and submit to the Registered Ofce of the Company: 

 

I/We …………….. of  ……………….being a member of At-Tahur Limited, holder of ……………………. Ordinary shares as 
per Registered Folio number/CDC A/c # ………………… E-mail ID ……………………..  having CNIC No. 
……………………………………… 
 

The above e-mail address please be recorded in the members register maintained under Section 120 of the Companies Act, 2017. 

 

I will inform the Company or the Registrar about any change in my e- mail address immediately. Henceforth, I will receive the 

Audited Financial Statements along with Notice only on the above e -mail address, unless a hard copy has been specically 

requested by me. 

__________________ 
Signature of Member 
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Tax Deduction - Filer or Non-Filer 

 
According to clarification received from FBR, each joint shareholder is to be treated individually as either a ‘Filer’ or ‘Non-Filer’ 
and tax will be deducted on the basis of shareholding notied by each joint holder. Accordingly, such shareholders(s) may notify 
in writing within 10 days of this notice to the Shares Registrar of the Company as per format given below. If no notication is 
received by the Shares Registrar, then it will be assumed that the shares are held in equal proportion by the principal shareholder 
and the joint holder(s): 
 

Individual/Company 
Name 

Folio/CDC 
A/c No. 

Total 
Shares 

Principle Shareholder Joint Shareholder(s) 

   Name & 
CNIC No. 

Shareholding 
Portion (No. 
of Shares) 

Name & CNIC 
No. 

Shareholding 
Portion (No. 
of Shares) 

 

Exemptions from Tax 
 
Deduction of Tax and Zakat on Dividend entitlement: Members who wants to avail the exemptions on their respective dividend 
entitlement are requested to furnish the following documents to the Company / Shares Registrar: 
 
• Valid income tax exemption certificate issued by the concerned Commissioner of inland Revenue in order to avail tax exemption 
under Section 150 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (tax on dividend) where the statutory exemption under clause 47B of Part 
IV of Second Schedule is available and want to avail exemption under Section 150 of the Ordinance, otherwise tax will be 
deducted under the provisions of laws. 
 
• Zakat exemption certicate/undertaking as per Zakat & Ushr Ordinance, 1980. 

 
Statement under Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2017 

 
This statement is annexed to the Notice of the Annual General Meeting of At-Tahur Limited (the Company) to be held on 
Saturday, October 27, 2018, at which certain Special Business is to be transacted. The purpose of this Statement is to set forth 
the material facts concerning such Special Business. 
 
ITEM (3) OF THE AGENDA  
In order to implement SECP directions with respect to transmission / circulation of information such as Annual Audited 
Accounts through CD/DVD/USB to all members instead of hard copies. Resolution is part of notice for concurrence of 
shareholders to adopted newly introduced mode of transmission. 
 
The Directors, Sponsors, Major Shareholders and their relatives are not interested directly or indirectly in the above business 
except to the extent of their shareholding held by them in the Company. 
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CONSENT FORM FOR ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION OF  
ANNUAL REPORT & NOTICE OF AGM 

M/s Corplink (Private) Limited 

Wing Arcade, I-K Commercial 

Model Town, Lahore 

Email: shares@corplink.com.pk 

 

Subject: CONSENT FORM FOR ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION OF ANNUAL REPORT AND 

NOTICE OF AGM  

 

Dear Sirs,  

I/we, being the shareholder(s) of At-Tahur Limited (“Company”), do hereby consent and authorize the 

Company for electronic transmission of the Annual Audited Financial Statements of the Company along with 

Notice of Annual General Meeting via the Email provided herein below and further undertake to promptly 

notify the Company of any change in my Email address. I understand that the transmission of Annual Audited 

Financial Statements of the Company along with Notice of Annual General Meeting via the Email shall meet 

the requirements of Companies Act 2017. 

 

1. Name of Shareholder(s):  

2. Fathers / Husband Name:  

3. CNIC:  

4. NTN:  

5. Participant ID / Folio No:  

6. E-mail address:  

7. Telephone:  

8. Mailing address: 

 

Date: ________           

 

Signature:________________________ 

(In case of corporate shareholders, the authorized signatory must sign) 

  



 92 

FORM OF PROXY 
Annual General Meeting 

I/We____________________________________________________________________________ 

of _____________________ in the district of ________________________________ being a member of AT-

TAHUR LIMITED hereby appoint __________________________________________ 

____________________________ of _____________another member of the Company or failing him/her 

appoint___________________________________________________________________ 

of _________________________________________ another member of the Company as my / our proxy to vote 

for me/us and on my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Saturday, October 

27, 2018 at 11:30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. 

As witness my/our hand seal this ______________________ day of ____________________, 2018 

 
 

Folio 
No. 

CDC Account Holder No. of 
Ordinary 
Shares 
held 

Participant I 
D 

Account/Sub 
Account 

    
        _________________________ 
        Signature of Member 
 
Witness 1       Witness 2 
Signature_____________    Signature _____________ 
Name        Name 
CNIC No.      CNIC No. 
Passport No.      Passport No. 
Address      Address 
 
Important Notes: 
1. Proxies, in order to be effective, must be received at the Company’s Registered Office situated at 182 Abu Bakar Block, New Garden 
Town, Lahore not later than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting and must be duly stamped, signed and 
witnessed. 
2. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxies are deposited by a member with the 
Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered invalid. 
3. No person can act as proxy unless he / she is member of the Company, except that a corporation may appoint a person 
who is not a member. 
For CDC Account Holders / Corporate entities 
In addition to the above, the following requirements have to be met. 
a) The proxy form shall be witnessed by two persons whose name, address and Computerized National Identity Card 
(CNIC) number shall be mentioned on the form. 
b) Attested copies of CNIC or the passport of the benecial owners and the proxy shall be provided with the proxy form. 
c) The proxy shall produce original CNIC or passport at the time of attending the meeting. 
d) In case of the Corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ Resolution / Power of Attorney with specimen signature shall be submitted (unless 
it has been provided earlier) along with proxy form to the Company. 

 

Affix 

Revenue of 

Stamps of Rs. 5/- 
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